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Corporate Information
NEEH
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Chairman’s Statement
TERE
BUSINESS REVIEW

On 27 June 2011, the Group successfully spun off its handbag business
and has this business listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited by way of introduction. The spin-off not only enabled
the management team of the Group to focus on the development of
chemical business, but also provided investors with a clearer and an
independent view on the operating and financial position of the chemical
business.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded revenue
of HK$2,156 million, increased by 0.8% over the last year; and a
net profit for the year of HK$676 million, representing a substantial
increase of approximately 45.2% over the same period last year. The
chemical business recorded revenue of HK$1,808 million, increased by
approximately 40.7% over the same period last year; and a net profit
of HK$637 million, representing a substantial increase of approximately
77.9% over the same period last year. The handbag business recorded
revenue of HK$347 million and a net profit of HK$39 million upon the
completion of the spin-off.

The production capacity of the chemical business has further increased
since the fourth production line commenced full operation during the
first half of 2011. As for the product selling prices, there were significant
fluctuations in main product prices during the year; high prices dropped
sharply in the second half of the year whereas the by-product prices
rose substantially. Overall annual gross profit margin has increased from
44.7% of last year by 2 percentage points to 46.7%; the net profit
margin also increased from 27.9% of last year by 7.3 percentage points
to 35.2%. Such excellent performance not only generated considerable
profit contribution to the Group, but also laid a solid foundation for the
future business expansion.

PROSPECTS

Upon the full operation of the fourth chloromethane production line
during the first half of 2011, the aggregate designed annual production
capacity of Jiangsu Chemical Plant has reached 160,000 tons of
chloromethane, 220,000 dry tons of caustic soda and 120,000 tons of
hydrogen peroxide. In the coming year, the key business focus of our
chemical segment will be on the construction of a new plant in Ruichang
City, Jiangxi Province. The Group intends to spend about RMB1.9 billion
for development of the fluorochemical downstream products in two
phases and the first production line is expected to commence operation
in the first half of 2013. The project will be financed by internal funds
and bank borrowings while the relevant bank financing lines have been
granted and made available for drawdown at any time according to the
progress requirement of the project.
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As always, our management team will leverage on our internal technical
innovation and scientific research and development in a pragmatic and
aggressive approach and continue its persistent efforts to make great
strides in the business development of the Group and deliver fruitful
rewards to the shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to
our shareholders, customers and business partners for their unwavering
support throughout the year. In addition, | would also like to take
this opportunity to thank all colleagues and staff for their persistent
contribution to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 February 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

- S iaA
EIRE N O
CONTINUING OPERATION - CHEMICAL BUSINESS

Results of operation

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the chemical business has
recorded revenue of HK$1,808 million and a net profit of HK$637
million, representing a substantial increase of 40.7% and 77.9%
respectively, as compared to HK$1,285 million and HK$358 million
respectively of the last year. The increase in revenue was mainly due
to the increased selling price of our main products methylene chloride
and chloroform (“CMS") during the first half of the year, as well as the
increased production output of the 4th CMS production line which
commenced operation during the year. For the year ended 31 December
2011, the total actual output of CMS was 177,500 tons (2010:
approximately 148,000 tons).

As for the product selling prices, there were significant fluctuations in
main products prices during the year, high prices dropped sharply in the
second half of the year whereas the by-product prices rose substantially.
The average selling price per ton, excluding tax, of our main chemical
products, methylene chloride and chloroform, was approximately
RMB4,700 (2010: RMB4,970) and RMB5,400 (2010: RMB4,920)
respectively. The average selling price per ton of our by-product 32%
caustic soda was RMB698 (2010: RMB474). Furthermore, raw materials
purchase costs, mainly including industrial crude salt and methanol,
increased by approximately 11.1%.

Selling and distribution expenses

With the increase in sales revenue and production capacity, its selling
and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2011 was
HK$57million, representing an increase by HK$10 million as compared
to HK$47million for the year ended 31 December 2010.The selling and
distribution costs represented about 3.19% of the revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2011. There was a decline as compared to 3.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2010. As part of the logistics expenses
were fixed costs in nature, when the delivery volume increased, average
fixed costs would decrease accordingly.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the administrative expenses
incurred for the chemical business was HK$143million, which increased
by HK$36 million as compared to HK$107 million for the year ended 31
December 2010. The increase was mainly due to the substantial rise in
PRC local taxes as well as the increase in the research and development
expenditure and depreciation during the year.
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Finance costs

The finance costs incurred for the chemical business was HK$11 million
for the year ended 31 December 2011 as compared to HK$9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2010. Higher finance costs for the year
was mainly due to higher level of outstanding bank borrowings. As at 31
December 2011, the Group maintained the total bank borrowings of
HK$967 million (31.12.2010: HK$521 million).

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS’ AND CREDITORS’ TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group maintained at a stable level of 34
days for the year ended 31 December 2011 as compared to 32 days for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

Due to the stringent credit control, the average collection period was
controlled within a favourable level of 34 days for the year ended
31 December 2011 as compared to 19 days for the year ended 31
December 2010 which is in line with the normal credit terms of 7 days
to 60 days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 23 days for the year ended
31 December 2011 as compared to 27 days for the year ended 31
December 2010 which is in line with the normal credit terms of 7 days
to 45 days granted by the suppliers to the group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total shareholders' equity of the Group as at 31 December 2011 was
HK$1,659 million (31.12.2010: HK$1,299 million) . As at 31 December
2011, the Group had current assets of HK$1,623 million (31.12.2010:
HK$870 million) and current liabilities of HK$425 million (31.12.2010:
HK$828 million). The current ratio was 3.8 as at 31 December 2011 as
compared to 1.0 at 31 December 2010.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated cash
flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong Kong
and the PRC. As at 31 December 2011, the Group had outstanding bank
borrowings of HK$967 million (31.12.2010: HK$521 million). These
bank loans were secured by corporate guarantees provided by certain
subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 December 2011, the Group
maintained bank balances and cash of HK$1,233 million (31.12.2010:
HK$393 million). The Group's net cash-to-equity ratio (cash and cash
equivalents net of total borrowings over shareholders’ equity) as at 31
December 2011 was 0.16.

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses
sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet its commitments,
working capital requirements and future investments for expansion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWNE D

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2011, the Group had a workforce of more than 700
people. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, and
provides them with proper training and competitive compensation and
incentives. The staffs are remunerated based on their work performance,
professional experience and prevailing market situation. Remuneration
packages comprise salary and bonuses based on individual merits.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERWME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
believes that sound and reasonable corporate governance practices
are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and
maximizing shareholders' interests. During the year under review, the
Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, except where stated and explained below.

The Group has an Executive Chairman. No individual has been
appointed as a chief executive officer. The Executive Chairman with
the assistance of the Group’s senior management team oversees and
manages the Group's business. Other functions normally undertaken
by a chief executive officer of a company are delegated to members
of the Group’s senior management team. This structure deviates from
the code provision of Code that requires the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive officer to be separate and not performed by the
same individual. The Board has considered this matter carefully and
decided not to adopt the provision. The Board believes that the current
management structure has been effective in facilitating the operation and
development of the Group and its business for a considerable period of
time and that the necessary checks and balances consistent with sound
corporate governance practices are in place. Accordingly, the Board does
not consider it necessary to change the current management structure.
However, the Board will review the management structure from time to
time to ensure it continues to meet these objectives.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions in 2004. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2011. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and role
The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Man Yan

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning (appointed on 27 June 201 1)
Ms. Wong Yuet Ming (appointed on 27 June 2011)
Mr. Kung Phong (resigned on 27 June 2011)

Ms. Poon Lai Ming (resigned on 27 June 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

The Board comprises of four executive directors (one of whom is the
Chairman) and three independent non-executive directors. The three
independent non-executive directors represent more than one-third of
the Board. In addition, three of the independent non-executive directors
possess appropriate legal, professional accounting qualifications and
financial management expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and the
internal controls of the Group's business operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive director is independent in character and judgment and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation or confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company's corporate
communications.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors. Notice
of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all regular board
meetings and the directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect
of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to
confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all directors
have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided with
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to
make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the year under review, board meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each director is set out below:
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Number of board
meetings attended/Total

Name of director BEspg HESE FRERH
Ms. Wai Siu Kee wmlmrt 9/
Mr. Lee Man Yan FNREE 9/
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FRORESE 7/11
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP FER S EBBS KA+ 7/11
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei I e 7/11
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning (appointed on 27 June 2011) GER 4 (ZHR2011F6527H) 1/4
Ms. Wong Yuet Ming T AAZ+

(appointed on 27 June 2011) (ZER20119F6H27H) 3/4
Ms. Poon Lai Ming (resigned on 27 June 2011) ERERRZ (TR 201146/H27H) 5/7
Mr. Kung Phong (resigned on 27 June 2011)  BE§h %A (BHER20119F6H27H) 6/7

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 and its current members
include:

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in legal,
business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The composition
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference which
describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee were adopted
in 2001 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is
posted on the Company's website.
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The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of internal
controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectiveness of
the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company's auditors in matters coming
within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2011.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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Number of attendance

Name of member MEHE H R B
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei TR E 3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FROR G A 3
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP F RIS EBBS A FAi 1 3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the current
members include:

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive directors. The Remuneration Committee advises the Board on
the Group's overall policy and structure for the remuneration of directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee ensures that
no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were adopted in 2005 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has met during the year to determine
the policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management and all members
have attended in the meeting.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the auditors of the Company
only provided audit services to the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed
to implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to
safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group's assets. The
Board has delegated to executive management the implementation of
the system of internal controls and reviewing of all relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management function within an
established framework.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2011, the directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis. The directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about the
Group's performance to shareholders through the publication of interim
results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to dispatching
circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders, additional
information is also available to shareholders on the website of the
Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the Company
gives at least 21 days' notice. The Chairman and Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company's businesses
at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual directors.
In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included in the circular
to shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEERGN
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. WAI Siu Kee, aged 67, Chairman of the Company who joined the
Group since its establishment in 1976. She is also the founder, chairman
and chief executive officer of Lee & Man Handbags Holding Limited
(Stock Code: 1488). Ms. Wai has more than 46 years of experience in
the manufacturing industry. She is responsible for the development of
corporate strategies, corporate planning and overall management of the
Group and in particular the marketing and development of the business
of the Group. Ms. Wai is the honorary permanent president of the Hong
Kong Baptist University Foundation.

Mr. LEE Man Yan, aged 34, an Executive Director of the Group and
General Manager of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited and Jiangxi
Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He is in charge of the corporate and
strategic planning of the chemical business segment, and is responsible
for the procurement, staff recruitment, public relations and management
operations of the chemical business. He graduated from the University
of British Columbia, Canada with a bachelor's degree in commerce.
He joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Lee is a son of Ms. Wai Siu Kee, the
Group's Chairman.

Mr. YANG Zuo Ning, aged 50, an Executive Director of the Group and
Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd. He joined
the Group in 2006. He is a national acclaimed senior engineer and
has 29 years of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is
responsible for the production supervision, corporate strategic planning
and general management of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Ms. WONG Yuet Ming, aged 47, an Executive Director, Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of the Group. She is also the company
secretary of Lee & Man Handbags Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1488).
She joined the Group in 2004 and has over 22 years of experience in the
field of auditing and accounting. She holds a master's degree in business
administration from the University of Surrey, United Kingdom. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She is responsible for the supervision and management of
the Group's financial matters.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Kai Tung, Tony, aged 69, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co., Solicitors
and Notaries.

Mr. WAN Chi Keung, Aaron BBS, JP, aged 62, an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Group. He holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master
Degree in Buddhist studies of the University of Hong Kong, also an
associate of the Institution of Business Agents, a member of the Land
Institute (London), an associate of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
and a fellow of The Institute of Administrative Accounting. He is engaged
in the business of property valuation and property auction and has over
30 years of related experience.

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei, aged 34, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He is a partner of Morison Heng, Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a master of science degree of the Imperial College
of Science, Technology and Medicine, the University of London. He is
a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Heng serves as an independent non-executive director in China Fire
Safety Enterprise Group Limited (Stock Code: 0445) and Lee & Man
Handbags Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1488) whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Hiu Fung, aged 41, Deputy Financial Controller of the Group.
He joined the Group in 2005 and has 18 years of experience in financial
management. He holds a bachelor's degree in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a master's degree in International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is responsible for the supervision on the financial matters, tax issues and
general management of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited.

Mr. HUI Jun, Dan, aged 57, Sales Director of the Group. He joined the
Group in 2005 and has over 30 years experience in sales, marketing and
business development in overseas and PRC enterprises. He is responsible
for developing the Company's sales strategies, exploring potential markets
and logistics management of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.

Dr. TSE Man Kin, aged 40, Business Development Manager of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 17 years of experience
in chemical research and research management. He holds a Ph.D in
Chemistry from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a member
of the American Chemical Society. He is responsible for the research and
development of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Ltd.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company.

On 22 June 2011, as part of a reorganisation of the Group's businesses,
the Company effected a spin-off of Lee & Man Development Company
and its subsidiaries which are principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of handbags by way of a distribution in specie to the Company's
shareholders on a pro rata basis (the “Spin-off").

Following the Spin-off, the Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of chemical products.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to the special resolution approved by the shareholders of
the Company held on 11 October 2011, the name of the Company
was changed from Lee & Man Holding Limited to Lee & Man Chemical
Company Limited X/t THPRAE], which became effective on 18
October 2011.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 26.

An interim dividend of HK17 cents per share amounting to
HK$140,250,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during the
year.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK12
cents per share to the shareholders on the register of members on 9
May 2012, amounting to HK$99,000,000 in total, and the retention of
the remaining profit for the year of HK$437,130,000.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In relation to the AGM

The annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the Company is scheduled
to be held on Monday, 30 April 2012. For ascertaining shareholders’ right
to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 26 April 2012 to Monday, 30 April
2012, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on
Wednesday, 25 April 2012.

In relation to the proposed final dividend

The board of directors of the Company has resolved to recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK12 cents per share in cash for the
year ended 31 December 2011 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 9 May
2012 subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
the AGM. For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 7 May 2012 to Wednesday, 9 May 2012, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company's Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at
26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 4 May 2012,

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a
cost of approximately HK$65,524,000 for the purpose of expanding its
business. Details of these and other movements in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Man Yan

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning (appointed on 27 June 201 1)
Ms. Wong Yuet Ming (appointed on 27 June 2011)
Mr. Kung Phong (resigned on 27 June 2011)

Ms. Poon Lai Ming (resigned on 27 June 2011)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS JP

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

In accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of Association,
Mr. Lee Man Yan, Mr. Yang Zuo Ning and Ms. Wong Yuet Ming will retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each of the other independent non-executive
directors is the period up to his retirement as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Wai Siu Kee has entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 1 September 2011 for a period of 3 years, which will continue
thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by three months’
prior written notice.

Mr. Lee Man Yan has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August 2010, which
will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months' prior written notice.

Mr. Yang Zuo Ning and Ms. Wong Yuet Ming have each entered into
a service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of one year
commencing 27 June 2011, which will be terminated by either party by
three months' prior written notice.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY

As at 31 December 2011, the relevant interests or short positions of the
directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO") which are required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO) or were required pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or were required,
pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Number of issued

Annual Report 2011 3
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MR2011F12A318  ARBISESHEE
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HFRBEGAE+REIETRESH BT
GARRBNEBHERIMERAB ([HRZ
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KRB ) IR IE B H LA EEHIE 352157850
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(@) RERARBZHER
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Percentage of
the issued share capital

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

EEHE =37 ZERHE HERITREABDL

Lee Man Yan Held by controlled corporation 618,750,000 75%
(note)

FXR BXIEEERE (K157)

note: These shares are held by Fortune Star Tradings Ltd. (“Fortune Star”). Mfa# - £t % £ J5 68 Fortune Star Tradings Ltd. ( [ Fortune

Star])#%5%5 °
(b) Share options (b) EERAE

Number of ordinary

Percentage of

shares subject the issued share capital

Name of director Capacity to options granted of the Company
EEpnA 3% ERHERECEBREE HEBRITRAB DL
Lee Man Yan Beneficial Owner 82,500,000 10%
) BEmEEA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY
(CONTINUED)

(c) Long positions in shares of the associated corporations of

EERRETEENEENRAR(E)

() REQXBEBEEZRODHER

the Company

Percentage
Name of of the issued shares
associated Number of issued of the associated
Name of Director Capacity company ordinary shares held company
e 81T {hAEEEE
EEfE 514 B EE AR ZERHA ERITREABDL
Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner Fortune Star 45 (note) 45%

3 EnEEA (H172)

note: As Fortune Star owns more than 50% of the Company, Fortune Star is an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The entire issued share
capital of Fortune Star is owned by Mr. Lee Man Yan, a Director, as to 45% and
Mr. Lee Wan Keung as to the remaining 55%. Ms. Wai Siu Kee is a director of
Fortune Star.

Other than disclosed above, none of the directors or the chief executive,
or any of their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations, which had to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 14 December
2001, under which the directors or the chief executive of the Company
or their associates may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Details of the share option scheme and movement of the share options
during the year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2011, shareholders (other than directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Number of issued
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Percentage of
the issued share capital

Name of shareholders Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

BRER It & =3 EBERHE HEBRITRAB DL

Fortune Star Beneficial owner 618,750,000 75%
EREAA

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Company Bk EXXFTH#REE - R2011F 124318 - #i&

has not been notified by any persons (other than directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions for the year are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements which are also the discloseable
connected transaction pursuant to Listing Rules. In the opinion of the
independent non-executive directors, these transactions entered into by
the Group were:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there was no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable so far
as the shareholders of the Company were concerned;

(i) either (@) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there were no such agreements, on terms no less favourable
than those available to or from independent third parties; and

(iv) within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need

to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EX{t THRAF

Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected transactions”, no
contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were approximately 3 1% of the Group's total sales and
the sales attributable to the Group's largest customer were approximately
139% of the Group's total sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were approximately 64% of the Group's total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 20% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2011,

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee

CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 27 February 2012

23

Annual Report 2011 3

& 3R

AEBREBEZMERRAFMEESRT
TREBZINAE - EXRERNTEMERE

o

ARBEFZMERFMEESRARAZ
RERE  BEAZTERBARBHZTS
RN TETE °

KRR RMN—IBERETE - EAHES
LEERREE ZEE  FEFBEENGEY
WERMFEST -

ARABIREZE2011F12A3 1B IEREFERN
BHREFEZHAZRERRE -

R BREm

BRAERERE - BERT M1 RAR R
BN ORBRGNERBFAS LR -

REESTE
T
7 201292HA27H
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M A% BAD ¥

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS LEE & MAN HOLDING LIMITED)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 26 to 105,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2011, and of
the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 February 2012
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3 {t THRAF

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (#HZ=2011F12A3181EFE)

Continuing operation
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Net loss on derivative financial instruments

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years

Share of profit of jointly controlled entities

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year from continuing operation

Discontinued operation

Profit for the year from discontinued operation

Gain arising from reclassification of translation
reserve upon distribution in specie

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences arising from translation

Reclassification of translation reserve upon
distribution in specie

Share of reserve of jointly controlled entities

Fair value loss on hedging instruments in
cash flow hedges

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share from continuing and
discontinued operations:
— Basic (HK cents)
— Diluted (HK cents)

Earnings per share from continuing operation:
— Basic (HK cents)
— Diluted (HK cents)

Notes
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2011
HK$'000
FTExT

1,808,348
(963,084)

845,264
55,298
(1,685)
(56,897)
(143,095)

(11,345)
7

687,547
(50,584)

636,963

33,327

6,090
39,417

676,380

71,957

(6,090)
221

(2,963)
63,125

739,505

82.0
81.4

77.2
76.7

2010
HK$'000
THETT
(restated)
(&e=51)

1,285,269
(710,528)

574,741
8,295

(46,595)
(106,827)

(8,773)

420,841
(62,700)

358,141
107,676
107,676
465,817

40,667

161

40,828

506,645

56.5
56.5

43.4
43.4



(At 31 December 2011)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Investment properties

Intangible assets

Deposits paid for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Deposit paid for land use right

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Loan to a jointly controlled entity

Defined benefit assets

Deferred tax asset

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Prepaid lease payments

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Tax recoverable

Restricted bank balances

Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Derivative financial instruments
Amounts due to related companies
Taxation payable

Bank borrowings — due within 1 year

(H2011412A8318)

FRBEE

W% - BB KRERE

TBNEEHIE

REME

BV EE

BEVE BER
B EPARNE ] ka

T REZE N2
HEEHIER 2 s
HEEHIERZ &R

REMNDZEE

B AEE

REBEE

E3

TEfrEEHE

M E 5 Ko Bt 50IR
ITEERT A

A E IR
BRBIR TS
RITREBRNIRE

REAE
FEINE 5 N EAh 5R0R
TSR T A
FEfREE A R FUR
FENTEIR
RITIER — 1 FREH]

NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) #B)EE (&) FE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

REERRBRE
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Notes

et

16
17
18
19

20
23
35
29

21
17
22

25

26
24
27

28

31.12.2011
HK$'000
TR

1,124,535
45,454

8,443

14,613
3,045
4,934
9,400

1,210,424

95,620
929
293,601

1,233,108

1,623,258

190,234

201
14,738
220,148

425,321

1,197,937

2,408,361

Annual Report 2011 3

31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
(restated) (restated)
(&%) (&E71)
1,170,338 1,073,718
55,855 55,766
26,341 22,408
8,323 8,480
29,598 12,841
4,706 -
4,538 4,250
626 577
1,300,325 1,178,040
168,072 108,375
1,235 1,210
304,323 178,387
= 704
2,824 =
- 1,705
393,385 70,638
869,839 361,019
313,530 293,991
530 =
6,955 8911
27,884 3,631
479,577 288,832
828,476 595,365
41,363 (234,346)
1,341,688 943,694
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ra AR 3R

(At 31 December 2011) (20114 12A318)

31.12.2011  31.12.2010 1.1.2010
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it FHT T T
(restated) (restated)
(E5) (E5)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBARG
Bank borrowings — due after 1 year SRITER — 1F1E 555 28 746,600 41,808 83,616
Other long term payables Hih REAE T FIE - = 1,676
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIARE 29 - 582 553
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 24 3,140 = =
749,740 42,390 85,845
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,658,621 1,299,298 857,849
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRf#E
Share capital AR 30 82,500 82,500 82,500
Reserves (i 1,576,121 1,216,798 775,349
1,658,621 1,299,298 857,849

The consolidated financial statements on pages 26 to 105 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
February 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wai Siu Kee
BHLH
Chairman
B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
gz O LA E TR

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

Non-
Asset distri- Share
Share Share revaluation ~ butable Translation  Hedging  options Special Accumulated
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve profits Total
8E TIHK BRE

Bx BHEE  EERE e ERRG  HARE e BHRRE  RMEA &t
HKF000  HKSOOO  HK$000  HK$0OD  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
TRr  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR TEn

(note i) (note i)
(Bitai) (Bitai)

At 1 January 2010 (originaly stated) ®2010F1A18(R51) 82,500 20,307 74,727 - 35,049 - - (67990) 780662 925255
Effects of change in accounting policies BHBREE RS - - (68085) - - - - - 679 (67,406)
A1 January 2010 (restted) R010F181B(AF5)) 82500 20307 6642 - 35019 - - (679%0) 781341 857849
Exchange differences arising from translation A BT £ ATER 218 - - = = 40,667 = = = = 40,667
Share of reserve of a jointly controlled enity [k S Fli#|H E2p = = = = 161 = = = = 161
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FRE M2 - - - - 40828 - - - - 40828
Profit for the year FREF = - - - - - - - 465817 465817
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEREEE - - - - 40,828 - - - 465817 506,645
Recognition of equity-setled share-based AARREE

payments BERZ - - - - - - 66,804 - = 66,804
Dividends recognised as distribution BEADEZRE = = = = = - - - (1320000  (132,000)
Transfer to non-distributable reserve fund AN REEES = - - 59,575 = = = - (59575) =
At 31 December 2010 M2010512A318

(testated) (igE7)) 82500 20307 6682 59575 15877 - 66804 (67990) 1055583 1299298
Exchange differences arising from translation ~ RABFIEANER £ - - - - 71957 - - - = 71,957
Share of resenve of a jointly controlled entity (5 R HIE R E - - - - 21 - - - - 21
Fair value loss on hedging instruments in ReRERIAL

cash flow hedges ATEER - - - - - (2,963) - - - (2,963)
Redlassification upon distribution in spece ~ E¥1AREES = - - - (6,090) - - - - (6,090)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMKE (T EE

for the year - - - - 66,088 (2,963) - - - 63,125
Profit for the year FRER = = = = = - - - 676380 676380
Total comprehensive income (expense) FREM2ERR ()

for the year = = = = 66,088 (2,963) = = 676,380 739,505
Recognition of equity-settled share-based AARTEE

payments BER T - - - - - - 62370 - = 62,570
Derecognition upon distribution in specie B RE AR

(Note 13) (RtzE13) - - (6642) - - - - (9372) (159038) (195052)
Cash dividends recognised as distribution BRADRZAERE = - - - - - - - (247500)  (247,500)
Transfer to non-distributable reserve fund AR REEEE - - - 67,362 = = = - (67362 =
At31 December 2011 W2011412A318 82,500 20,307 = 126,937 141,965 (2963) 129,174 (97,362)  1,258063 1,658,621
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n\/—_l_\

(For the year ended 31 December 2011)

notes:

®

(i)

*,E'?)i,%a%@];fz

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

According to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), wholly
foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their
net profits after taxation, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to
a non-distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution
of a dividend to equity owners. The non-distributable reserve fund can be used to
offset the previous years' losses, if any. The non-distributable reserve fund is non-
distributable other than upon liquidation.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in
December 2001.

30
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation:
Continuing operation
Discontinued operation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Share-based payment expense

Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years

Release of prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of intangible assets

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net loss (gain) from fair value changes on
derivative financial instruments

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
receivables

Reversal of write-down of inventories

Interest income

Change in fair value of investment properties

Recovery of doubtful debt

Share of profit of joint controlled entities

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in defined benefit assets
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease) increase in derivative financial instruments
Decrease in amounts due to related companies

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
Profits Tax paid for other jurisdictions

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RERK
BRELADA A :
BRI EER

=
3

B’
Mm% - BELAREZTE
RIS

MEXHERAFAREBEEZ

RITHER
BhEMHEER
BB EHH
HEWE - BELREER

TEERTIARTHERSMESL

ZFEE (k)
FE YW S RSB (B R 1R

T EEER
AR
REMEDTERY
PEEY TS

e R R

LERSEBRIZ
REXBIRERE
TFEIE I
FEWE 5 I EoAth sRIALE AN
FEN R EEE N
eI E 5 K Bt IR OB A ) 3N
ITEESBT ACRD)EM
FEf BB R R FRR D
REXGHERS
ENEEMEH
EffEM RDERERAEH

REXBERLFH

31

Annual Report 2011 3

2011
HK$'000
TR

687,547
37,603

725,150

103,995
62,370

12,077
1,008
1,055

334

2,179

(25,88;)

@)

882,272
(34,130)
(148,288)

(7,480)
(1,024)

691,350

(62,500)

628,850

2010
HK$'000
THETT
(restated)
(&e=51))

420,841
117,147

537,988

95,999
66,804

10,480
1,217
1,019

370

(70)

204
(3,114)
(1,701)
(1,374)
®)

707,816
(56,583)
(126,134)
(288)

62,369

1,304
(1,956)

586,528
(13,418)
(37,757)

535,353
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (#HZ=2011F12A3181EFE)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment
Derecognition of cash of subsidiaries upon Spin-off
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Loan to a jointly controlled entity
Increase in prepaid lease payments
Deposit paid for land use right
Purchase of intangible assets
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Investment in a jointly controlled entity
Decrease in restricted bank balances

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank borrowings raised

Repayment of bank borrowings

Dividends paid

Interest paid

Repayment to related parties

Settlement of derivative financial instruments
under hedge accounting

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
THE YEAR

REFE

BEYE BELREREZ
EffFl&
DHRREORERMB AR ZERE
BEWE  BFEKEE
H%ﬂsmz%ﬁ

imﬁ%%%HJé

BEBIEAE

EUFLE
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2011
HK$'000
Tz

(39,397)
(33,703)
(18,749)
(9,400)
(7,470)
(2,990)
(904)
25,889

201

(86,523)

803,191
(251,170)
(247,500)

(12,077)
(6,754)

(1,508)

284,182

826,509

393,385

13,214

1,233,108

2010
HK$'000
THETT
(restated)
(&e=51))

1,701
178
(4,545)
1,705
(219,790)
327,638
(178,586)

(132,000)
(10,480)

6,572

322,135

70,638

612

393,385
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE SRR MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter
22 of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate
holding company and immediate parent is Fortune Star Tradings
Ltd. (“Fortune Star”), a company which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lee Wan Keung.
The address of the registered office of the Company is disclosed in
the section “Corporate Information” to the annual report.

On 22 June 2011, as part of a reorganisation of the Group’s
businesses, the Company effected a spin-off of Lee & Man
Development Company and its subsidiaries (the “Handbag Group’)
which are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
handbags (the "Handbag Business”) by way of a distribution in
specie to the Company’s shareholders on a pro rata basis (the
“Spin-off”).

Following the Spin-off, the Group was principally engaged in
the manufacture and sale of chemical products (the “Chemical
Business"”).

Prior to the Spin-off, the functional currency of the Company was
United States dollars. Because of the Spin-off, the Company's
remaining subsidiaries would principally operate in a Renminbi
("RMB") environment. The directors reassessed the functional
currency of the Company and changed to RMB as RMB better
reflects the underlying transactions, event and condition that are
relevant to the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK dollars”) as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA").

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2010
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures
Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)
—Int 14

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement

HK(FRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011)

2.

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in those consolidated financial statements.

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

R REETE BT BRELER
(TEBMBHRELER ] (E)

RAFTR] RGBT R R B AR E
ERISCBE S HIE 2R E B wmR R
BRELTEEATE -

B RMAE N RER ZH ] REETESR
B R 4R 22

AEEYW TR IRA T 5 EBME =R
R FR] MRIERT BRI T 2R

Amendments to HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7
HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 13
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 12
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)
Amendments to HKAS 32

HK(IFRIC) — Int 20

Disclosures — Transfers of Financial
Assets!

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities?

Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures?

Financial Instruments?
Consolidated Financial Statements?
Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities?
Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of ltems of Other
Comprehensive Incomes
Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets*
Employee Benefits2

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine?

BB RS R WE—EESR
FTHRUEETAR) BE

BB RS AR HE—RKESRE
EVEHACCHIEN) ElEHEE

BT HREAER BHEIMEAEME R
FSRUEETA) & B RS
BB TSRS LR
BT

BB R E %R LRI A
F95%

BB RS AR IRA S HRaR?
F105

BB RS 2R A ZHE
F115

BT RS %R WENEMEEN
B1258 T2

BT RS %R NFERE2
1358

EHe:HENF 1% 27HaEZERA
({EETA) EHS

EASTERFE 125 ETEHBE—WEE
({EETA) R E

ERSTERNFE 105 EEE?
(201 154&5T)

EAGTERE279 BUMBHRR?
(201 184&5T)

EAGTERE28 REEATIRAE
(2011 54&37) NEIRERE?

EAGTERNFE HESRHEER
CHEy SRiAEe

EA(BERYBHRE BEXESEEMRE
“EZEY) B R BRAK 72
—RRREE205

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

o v r wN -

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial
statements and HK(SIC) — Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities. HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that contains
three elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the investor's returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS
10 to deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HK(SIC)
— Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities —Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers. HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control should be classified. Under
HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations
or joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are
three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly
controlled assets and jointly controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, whereas
jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted for using
the equity method of accounting or proportionate accounting.
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(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")
(CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/
or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the
current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted provided
that all of these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning 1 January 2013. Based on the existing group
structure, the application of these five standards is not expected
to have impact on amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements.

However, the application of HKFRS 11 will not result in changes
in the accounting of the Group's jointly controlled entities that are
currently accounted for the equity method.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
other new and revised standards will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

During the year, the Group changed its accounting policy relating to
its property, plant and equipment as follow.

Prior to the change, the Group used to measure its property, plant
and equipment using the revaluation model. The management of
the Group considers that measuring property, plant and equipment
at cost model provides more relevant information about the Group's
financial performance to the economic decision-making needs
of users as most of the companies engaging businesses in the
manufacturing and sales of chemical products in PRC and handbags
in Hong Kong adopt the same model in measuring the property,
plant and equipment. As a result, the Group has decided to state
it at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. This change in accounting policy has been
applied retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”.
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This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively PRt BRREEHAFRERBEFE
and its effects for the current year and the prior year are as follows: HIEZHEZDMT
The effect on the Group’s results for the current year and HERREREXBRAFERBASF
prior year for continuing operation EXECTE
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Decrease in loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE K& EEE
plant and equipment included in TR E AR
administrative expenses 36 88
Decrease in depreciation of property, M - BERBEBTERHE
plant and equipment included in cost of sales  BXZNHR R 4> 1,295 2313
Decrease in deferred tax charge RIERIE R A 333 363
Increase in profit for the year FRETIE N 1,664 2,764

Decrease in surplus arising on revaluation of ~ #1% - B MR EEHARRE D

property, plant and equipment (43,090)
Decrease in recognition of deferred tax liability ~ #7% - /= M B EHER

arising on revaluation of property, RETIER A

plant and equipment 10,772
Decrease in other comprehensive income FRE A 2 E R

for the year (32,318)
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3. EIBESEE)
The effect on the Group’s results for the current year and HEBCRALREXBRAFERBRE
prior year for discontinued operation FEERZTE
1.1.2011 1.1.2010
to = to &
22.6.2011 31.12.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT

Increase in gain on disposal of property, HEME -« KE REEHKE

plant and equipment included in REA AR IE N

other income - 22
Decrease in loss on disposal of property, HEME « KRERXBEE

plant and equipment included in RITEE AR

administrative expenses 83 62
Decrease in depreciation of property, M - BB REETE

plant and equipment included PASHE B AN R A

in cost of sales 3,807 5,819
Decrease in deficit arising on revaluation mE - BB RRBERER

of property, plant and equipment included TERE AR

in administrative expenses - 65
Decrease in depreciation of property, W - BERREBITE

plant and equipment included in TR E AR

administrative expenses 54 87
Decrease in deferred tax credit RIET IR R (324) (545)
Increase in profit for the year FRRFIE NN 3,620 5510
Decrease in surplus arising on revaluation M - WEEREBEGHERERD

of property, plant and equipment - (14,431)
Decrease in recognition of deferred tax M - WMEEREBEGTR

liability arising on revaluation of property, HRIEE B

plant and equipment - 1,198
Decrease in other comprehensive income FRHEM 2 E KR

for the year - (13,233)
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Impact on basic earnings per share for continuing operation

Figures before adjustments

Adjustment arising from change in accounting
policy in relation to property, plant and
equipment

Figures after adjustments

Impact on diluted earnings per share
operation

Figures before adjustments

Adjustment arising from change in accounting
policy in relation to property, plant and
equipment

Figures after adjustments

Impact on basic earnings per share for discontinued

operation

Figures before adjustments

Adjustment arising from change in accounting
policy in relation to property, plant and
equipment

Figures after adjustments

Annual Report 2011 3

2011

HK cents

AL

TR T 77.0
BRAME - BEREBEZEETHR

HEEAR TR
0.2
AEEET 712

for continuing

2011

HK cents

AL

TR ST 76.5
BEWME - BB REHE 2 GRTBER

HEEA N
0.2
FEBET 76.7

1.1.2011

to &

22.6.2011

HK cents

AL

RN HT 4.4
BAME - BERREGETEER

BEELE PR
0.4
PRIEZHT 4.8
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2010
HK cents
AL

43.1

0.3

43.4

HESECLEEBESRBERRN 2%

2010
HK cents
P

43.1

0.3

434

HERIEEEXBEBREF BN 2 XE

1.1.2010

to &
31.12.2010
HK cents
il

12.4

0.7

13.1



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3 {t THRAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE BRI

(For the year ended 31 December 2011)
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impact on diluted earnings per share for discontinued

SHEERE (F)

HERIIEERBSRBERN &

operation
1.1.2011 1.1.2010
to = to &
22.6.2011 31.12.2010
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Figures before adjustments SRR 2 Bl 4.3 12.4
Adjustment arising from change in accounting  BRAME « BE MR E 2 SETEER
policy in relation to property, plant and BEEL AR
equipment 0.4 0.7
Figures after adjustments AEIR BT 4.7 13.1

Impact on basic earnings per share for
discontinued operations

continuing and

HEEKERECRIEREXBSREALX
BNz&®

2011 2010

HK cents HK cents

AL A

Figures before adjustments SRR BT 81.4 55,5
Adjustment arising from change in accounting AR - BB MREBZ €5TEER

policy in relation to property, plant and FEELZHE
equipment 0.6 1.0
Figures after adjustments AR BT 82.0 56.5

Impact on diluted earnings per share for continuing and

discontinued operations

HEEKERERALREXBEREE
BN z&E

2011 2010

HK cents HK cents

AL A

Figures before adjustments AR F 80.8 55.5
Adjustment arising from change in accounting BRIV - BE LR E 2 @5TEE

policy in relation to property, plant and BEMELNAE
equipment 0.6 1.0
Figures after adjustments BB 81.4 56.5
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The effect on the Group’s financial position as at 1 January
2010 and 31 December 2010

Property, plant and equipment

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liabilities

Total effects on net assets

Accumulated profits

Asset revaluation reserve

Total effects on total equity

E QLB
EXRBEAE
ELRERR

HEERENTE
B

RErE%
EES(hHE

B SakpZ it

As at
1.1.2010
(originally

stated) Adjustments

®
1.1.2010
(R51)
HK$'000
THL
1,147,156

(5,008)

1,141,148

780,662
74,727

855,389

L
HK$'000
TR

(73,438)
577
5455

(67,406)

679
(68,085)

(67,406)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except that investment properties and certain
financial instruments are measured at fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.
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HAREEMN2010F1 518 KX20105F12
B31HEBRR 2 E

As at
Asat 31.12.2010 As at
1.1.2010  (originally 31.12.2010
(restated) stated) Adjustments  (restated)
® R® i
1.1.2010 31.12.2010 31.12.2010
(&%) (F51) Eiikd (RE5)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TRL TRT THRT TRT

1,073,718 1,257,403 (87,065) 1,170,338
577 = 626 626
(553) (8917) 8335 (582)
1073742 1248486 (78,104) 1,170,382
781341 1,054,020 1563 1055583
6,642 86,309 (79,667) 6,642
787983 1,140,329 (78,104) 1,062,225

A MBRRTIBBEE M AGRM 2
FRMHREERRS o ULI) - AW
BRRBABRZAES EMARAN( LT
MR kBB R RGRGIRE 2 @R E
FH -

RAMBRERTVIRE L RNAELR
HETRATFEHEZRENERS R
TARAERSN - HEETBURN N XA -
BRI HERENRERFE -
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The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners

A liability for dividend payable is recognised when an entity declares
a distribution and has an obligation to distribute the assets. The
liability to pay a dividend shall be recognised when the dividend is
appropriately authorised and is no longer at the discretion of the
Entity. The Group measures a liability to distribute non-cash assets
as a dividend to its owner at net carrying amount of the assets to be
distributed when the non-cash asset is ultimately controlled by the
same parties both before and after the distribution.

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as a jointly controlled
entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of a jointly controlled entity
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled
entities. When the Group's share of losses of jointly controlled entity
equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that
jointly controlled entity.

42

TEEHERWT ©
mER%E

REMBHRREBEARARENER
Bl e EARAIABIEHIZER IR
RREHR - AR B EEUR 25 AR
SR IR -

FRRERHEMNB AR ZEE TR
BN AR EHEERB ML
(H@ER)FAZE2EEaER -

HEE - AERES B AR MH R
RIELAE  EESHBREAEEE
R B A BIFTERAE R — B -

PIEEEARS - &8 - IRA KR HH
ARG R B R EEH o

DIRTFHEEAZKREEE

ENREEENERERIAEDIKE
ERERER  KNREEENKREE
BERBEETEAERDIBRERE
R o BN EENDIKATR & A E
RIALEZEFIE - NEEFZDIKEER
EFEDRTERAARBE ZTAEE
ReBEEDKAE -

HEZEHER
HRAZEFIERIESRKIAETHER

RERDHEAFRENEZBIEEZE
BRERHE -

23

ARAEHER REREERA ELE
BEDAFTARARHR - REERDS
A RAREHER 2 REERIN
RA MBI RR LA - RBE
BASEEEARENERIESE AN
2ENEFHRIIER - HAREEE KR
IR 2 BIRAE NS AR &
FIEGIE i 2 (B RE R &7
@ AEERBOARERAREHE
BOFRE)  AIAKERIERELES
E—TEE - EERAEERAEH
BT S E B R RZ RS
ERXNRBEZBERT - T EREIN
BB -



Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly controlled
entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are
not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use in
the production of goods or for administrative purposes, other than
construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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e R R M EE

(BE2011F12A31HIEFE)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties, plant and machinery in the course of construction for
production or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group's accounting policy. Such assets are classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as leasee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are
considered separately for the purpose of lease classification, unless
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and building elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally
treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, the Group assesses the classification of each element as a
finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to each
element have been transferred to the Group. Interest in leasehold
land that is classified as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid
lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is released over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

«  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

+  the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

«  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

«  how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

«  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

+  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the
same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sales.
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Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) are recognised an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits
is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period.
Actuarial gains and losses which exceed 10% of the greater of
the present value of the defined benefit obligations and the fair
value of plan assets at the end of the previous reporting period are
amortised over the expected average remaining working lives of the
participating employees. Past service cost is recognised immediately
to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the
amended benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the present value of plan
assets as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, and
as reduced by the defined benefit obligation. Any asset resulting
from this calculation is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and
past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRAF

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (#HZ=2011F12A3181EFE)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities which
are stated at functional currency other than Hong Kong dollars are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under heading of translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition,
in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For
all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of jointly controlled
entities that do not result in the Group losing joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Change in functional currency

Functional currency of a group entity is changed only if there is
a change to the underlying transactions, events and conditions
relevant to the entity. The effect of a change in the translation
functional currency is accounted for prospectively. At the date
of change, the entity translates all items into the new functional
currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that date and the
resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items are treated as
the historical cost. Exchange differences arising from the translation
of foreign operations recognised in translation reserve are not
recognised in profit or loss until the disposal of the operation.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interest
in a jointly controlled entity, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interest are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and
deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are mainly loans and receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loan to a jointly controlled entity and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Loans and receivables are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that,
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition, the estimated future cash flows have been affected.

For all loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

«  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

«  breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

« it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period ranged O to 90 days and observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all loans and receivables with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade or other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group companies are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than those financial liabilities at FVTPL, of which the interest expense
is included in net gains or losses.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as
hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities
The Group's other financial liabilities mainly include trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies and bank borrowings.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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4.

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends
on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments for
cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions.

Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis,
the Group documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in
cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in hedging reserve are reclassified to profit or loss
in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss,
in the same line of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as the recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or when it no longer qualified for hedge
accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in hedging reserve at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment.
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make various estimates based on past experience, expectations
of the future and other information. The key sources of estimation
uncertainty that can significantly affect the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements
within the next financial year are disclosed below.

Impairment loss on trade receivables and bills receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and on management's judgment. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness of each customer. If the financial conditions of the
Group's customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be
required. Impairment is made based on the estimation of the
future cash flow discounted at the original effective rate to calculate
the present value. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying value
of trade receivables (net of impairment loss) and bills receivables
was approximately HK$243,790,000 (2010: approximately
HK$241,091,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (BZE2011F12A310LFE)

5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Write-down of inventories

Management reviews the inventories listing at the end of each
reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for
use in operation. Allowance was made by reference to the latest
market value for those inventories identified. Where the net
realisable value is less than the cost, a material write down may
arise. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of inventories
(net of allowances) was approximately HK$95,620,000 (2010:
approximately HK$168,072,000).

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2011, a deferred tax asset in relation to unused
tax losses of approximately HK$8,606,000 (2010: approximately
HK$42,238,000) was not recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the expectation for
future profit streams changes, a recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period
in which such a recognition takes place.

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year from continuing
operation, is as follows:

R P REMZEERIR(E)

FERERE

AEBEEEENSERSBAENTE
BE THERAETHBEAAREEZ
B MOEHET RETTRE - BE2
BBz mEEERZEEHTE

SHIRYEME - N2011F12A318 - 78

2 BRE{E (FNBR %12 ) 4995,620,000/%8
7£(2010 : #7168,072,000/87T) °

Frig®t

AR HE F 2 R AR TR + 722011
F12A2318 - BEARDBEREREBZE
R ITEE E 48,606,000/ 7T (2010 : 4
42,238,000/ 7T ) I AL AN & 2 BA S AR
MERPER - BEEFRIBEEECERTE
BN ESE ARG F S ok 7]
FAZERRERZBEMmME - MEEZ
RREERFTIZRIEHEF - BT
HEENRS TFTUELERD - MazAK
AR R R A B AR A s

A

ARBEFRBELEREBHFRBADHL
T

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Manufacture and sales of chemical products SLENEELTIESR 1,808,348 1,285,269
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(@)

(b)

Operating segments

Information reported to the Chairman of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods sold.

The Group used to have two operating segments, namely, the
Handbag Business and the Chemical Business with segment
information being present without allocating corporate
expenses and balances. Following the Spin-off, the CODM
regards the Chemical Business as the Group's sole operating
and reportable segment and reviews the Group's results and
financial position as a whole for the purpose of performance
measurement and resources allocation. Accordingly, no
segment analysis is presented for both years other than entity
wide disclosure.

The Handbag Business was reported as a discontinued
operation in Note 10.

Geographical information

The Group's operations from continuing operation are located
in the PRC.

The Group's revenue from continuing operation from external
customers and information about its non-current assets by
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

(a)

(b)

Annual Report 2011 3
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ZWARIREERE D 2 IFRED
BEFBWT

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

REPBEF KA IRBEE
2010 2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET FET FAET
(restated)
(&E5)
PRC 2] 1,795,854 1,279,419 1,210,424 1,192,157
The United States of America %= 12,494 = - =
Other Asian countries H I MBER 5,850 - -
1,808,348 1,285,269 1,210,424 1,192,157

note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to discontinued operation and
defined benefit assets.
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(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 2EERE)

(c) Revenue from major products

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its

major products:

() FEERKA

SEEBZEMBASNAT

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Chloromethane products REaty 1,064,551 829,379
Caustic soda 1B 582,029 321,942
Hydrogen peroxide BEAE 117,287 90,818
Others E 44,481 43,130
1,808,348 1,285,269

(d) Information about major customers

Revenue from sales of chemical products to customer
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as

(d) EBREFESH

R EAHER 0% TE
mIHEE, - HEFEHERAL

follow: T
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Customer A BFA 240,128 N/AT
! The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total sales L FRREM AR B SR B 8 S EE BE A 1000 ©

of the Group.
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfblkA

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
(restated)
(#&=7))
Bank interest income IRITFEHA 25,858 1,656
Government grant (note) AL (Hfat) 16,011 1,326
Exchange gain BE H e 5,947 3,144
Others Hith 7,482 2,169
55,298 8,295

note: The Group recognises these grants as other income upon receipt.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE FreHi < i

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(restated)
(FeE75)

The charge comprises: XHEE

Current tax: REATRIA -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") AR (> Z TS 95,158 62,649
EIT credit (note) EMSTIE R (H:E) (44,623) -
Other jurisdictions Hih RhE M= 49 51
50,584 62,700

note: This represents EIT credit by the relevant tax authority calculated with reference
to amount of qualified property, plant and equipment that the Group sourced
within the PRC.

The Group’s major business is in the PRC. Under the Law of the
PRC on EIT and its Implementation Regulation, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Jiangsu
L&M (as defined in Note 38) is exempted from PRC income tax
for two years starting from 2008, followed by a 50% reduction for
the next three years. These tax holidays and concessions expire in
2012.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made for both years since
there is no assessable profit for both years.
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9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

9. FBHXH(E)

FABAFAX LGRS 2 E RS R AT
BRI F AR T

follows:
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
(restated)
(1&&E%)
Profit before taxation B A A
Continuing operation FHEKEER 687,547 420,841
Discontinued operation BRI R R 37,603 117,147
725,150 537,988
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% AR TS R R 2500 7 FiIA
(2010: 25%) (2010 : 25%) 181,288 134,497
Tax effect of expenses not deductible in ETERERTLREN AR
determining taxable profit IR 22,589 19,226
Tax effect of income not taxable in 5B TE B AR i M B /R AR A
determining taxable profit WAZ R E (3.136) (427)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIBEBE BB E 533 1,178
Tax effect of offshore income not subject BB FIRA
to tax i % (5.411) (12,151)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BFAATARER ZTIEEE
recognised (102) (112)
Effect of tax exemption or concession PEIE R RIER R
granted to a PRC subsidiary 2 (95,586) (62,649)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries H R A RN EER 2
operating in other jurisdictions 2 (692) (7,391)
EIT credit P RIS HIE S (44,623) -
Income tax expense for the year FRFTFHE H 54,860 72,171
Analysed as: DR
— continuing operation —FEBREER 50,584 62,700
— discontinued operation —BERIEREER 4,276 9,471
54,860 72,171
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Upon the Spin-off, the Group discontinued its Handbag
January 2011 to 22 June

Business, the results of which from 1
2011 (date of Spin-off) and the year ended
2010 are presented as a discontinued operation

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Listing expenses

Interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable
within five years

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the period/year
Gain arising from reclassification of translation
reserve upon distribution of specie

Profit for the period/year from discontinued
operation included the following:
Directors’ emoluments
Other staff costs
Retirement benefit schemes contributions

(excluding directors)

Total staff costs

Release of prepaid lease payments

Auditors’ remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
(including write-down of HK$771,000
(2010: reversal of write-down of
HK$3,114,000))

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade receivables (included in selling and
distribution costs)

Exchange loss

and after crediting:

Interest income

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Recovery of doubtful debt

Gain on fair value changes on investment
properties

(Loss) gain on fair value changes on derivative
financial instruments

31 December
as follow:
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1.1.2011
to £

22.6.2011

HK$'000
TR

347,362
(250,621)

96,741
2,043
(5.280)
(40,604)
(14,565)
(732)

37,603
(4,276)

33,327
6,090

39,417

854
98,122

442

99,418

233
188

250,621
4,740

1,941

31
17

(494)

SEKRIEHEFRER R
20111 A1HZE2011F6 8228 (H1F
B)REE2010F 12831 BEE &
fE o BRIEEER 25T

1.1.2010

to &

31.12.2010

HK$'000

FHT

(restatedg
(&E7

853,539
(614,445)

239,094

8,642
(33,279)
(95,603)
(1,707)

117,147
9,471)

107,676

107,676

2,327
192,373

950

195,650

490
520

614,445
10,456

204
8,248

45
22

1,374
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)

During the period from 1 January 2011 to 22 June 2011, the
Handbag Group contributed cash inflow of HK$4,147,000 (2010:
HK$84,275,000) to the Group's net operating cash flows, paid
HK$2,205,000 (2010: HK$52,394,000) in respect of investing
activities and paid HK$17,779,000 (2010: HK$24,492,000) in
respect of financing activities.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. RIS (EZ)

BE2011E1A1HE2011F6 A22H
B FREBAREBR ZFEER
&R E B B 4,147,000 7T (20104 :
84,275,000 L) 2R E M A ~ BIX
& 7E B S 142,205,000 7T (20104 :
52,394,000/ ) A R iR &R & X
17,779,000 7L (20104 : 24,492,000
BIL) °

11. FREF

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
(restated)
(#&£57))
Continuing operation HEREEK
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FREMEHE
charging:
Directors’ emoluments (note 14) BEEHM (M E14) 73,110 68,256
Other staff costs E B B AN 44,304 32,235
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RINENET B (EERIN)

(excluding directors) 3,580 1,698
Total staff costs 8 TRAARER 120,994 102,189
Release of prepaid lease payments BHIENAEHIE 775 727
Amortisation of intangible asset B A EEH 1,055 1,019
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEME S 1,493 1,033
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses EREITHNEERA 963,084 710,528
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #13 ~ E RREZITE 99,255 85,543
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BRE KR EEE

equipment 268 392
Research and development cost recognised EHERAX HREER

as expenses 4,136 2,043
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The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from
profit attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

From continuing and discontinued
operations

Earnings from continuing and discontinued
operations for the purposes of basic and
diluted earnings per share

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of diluted earnings per share

From continuing operation

Earnings from continuing operation for the
purpose of basic and diluted earnings per
share

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share for the discontinued operation is
HK 4.8 cents per share (2010: HK 13.1 cents per share (restated))
and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued operation is
HK 4.7 cents per share (2010: HK 13.1 cents per share (restated)),
based on the profit for the year from the discontinued operations
of HK$39,417,000 (2010: HK$107,676,000 (restated)) and the
denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings

per share.

The presentation of diluted earnings per share for 2010 did not
assume the exercise of the Company's options because the exercise
price of those options was higher than the average market price for

shares in 2010.
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L5 B SR B et B e B E A
SERN TR T BUREE

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
(restated)
(iEE5)
BELENCRIEEER
RUAGTESREAZFNFELE
KRB S E TS 2 B
676,380 465,817
AT E SRR EREF LB E
825,000,000 825,000,000
TERBEEEYE e
5,525,890 =
PG E SIS AT A B
s8R 830,525,890 825,000,000
BT ESREAREFINIFE
LB 2 BT
636,963 358,141
AT E SRR AR EF AT B E
825,000,000 825,000,000
TERBEE e  BRE
5,525,890 =
AT E SRR 0 L @A
DT # 830,525,890 825,000,000

ERIEELXB cBREABNSER

48712010 : 12 1E1L(ES)) R
ERIEEEER 2 BRESRNATR
4.77%80L(2010 : K13 1BML(ES))) -
B 482 TR T 39,417,00078
JL(2010% € : 107,676,000/ L(E5)
MAIXFLBREARESAF NS T

BT -
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mE BRI

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

13. DIVIDENDS 13. K2
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Dividends recognised as distributions FADHERDIEZRE
during the year:
Final dividend of HK$13 cents per share HZE2010F 128310 LFE
for the year ended 31 December 2010 REAR B =138 107,250 =
Interim dividend of HK$17 cents per share HE2011F128310LFE
for the year ended 31 December 2011 P HARR S8R 7L 140,250 -
Final dividend of HK$7 cents per share EHZE2009F12A31HIEEE
for the year ended 31 December 2009 REARR B A7 8L - 57,750
Interim dividend of HK$9 cents per share HZE2010F12A31HIEEE
for the year ended 31 December 2010 AR BB AR - 74,250
247,500 132,000

A final dividend of HK$12 cents (2010: HK$13 cents) per share
amounting to HK$99,000,000 (2010: HK$107,250,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2011 has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in annual
general meeting.

In addition to the above, the Spin-off was effected by means of a
distribution in specie whereby the net assets of the Handbag Group
on the date of the Spin-off amounting to approximately HK$195
million was effectively distributed to the Company's shareholders on
a pro rata basis. Details of distribution are disclosed in Note 41.

64

EFES0ERREEHZ2011F12A31
B IS 2 REAIL S &A% 127811 (2010
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The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 9 (2010: 8)

directors were as follows:

Year ended 31.12.2011

Executive directors
Wai Siu Kee
Poon Lai Ming

(resigned on 27.6.2011)
Lee Man Yan
Kung Phong

(resigned on 27.6.2011)
Yang Zuo Ning

(appointed on 27.6.2011)
Wong Yuet Ming

(appointed on 27.6.2011)

Independent non-executive directors
Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Wan Chi Keung, Aaron

Heng Victor Ja Wei

HZ2011E128310LEE

HiTEZ

FB

EEH
(BHER2011456A278)

FYE
(BHIR201146A27R)

s
(RER2011%6R278)

T AR
(BER201156R278)

BUFHTEE
IHR
AER
e

Salaries

and other

benefits

Fees I
e HitiER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn
480 1,156

- 34

480 1,320

- 256

- 1,136

- 382

110 -
110 -
110 -
1,290 4,284
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B EMN T (2010 - 8f)EE

T
Other emoluments
Hiv#e
Contributions Share-based
to performance
retirement related
benefit incentive
schemes URBE
BNER BB
HEL RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TER
2 -
6 62,370
6 -
6 -
20 62,370

Discretionary
bonus
payments
RftRH
eSS
HK$'000
TER

6,000

6,000

Total
CH
HK$'000
T

1,636

36
64,176

262
1,136
388
110

110
110

73,964
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (#ZE2011F12A318ILFE)

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. EEME(E)

Other emoluments
At
Share-based
Contributions  performance
Salaries  to retirement related  Discretionary
and other benefit incentive bonus
benefits schemes WG & payments
Fees Fek RN AR 2GR EfRR Total
we EftEH IR FRRE BERe CH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Year ended 31.12.2010 BE2010512A31 B LLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Wai Siu Kee % - 1,170 - - - 1,170
Poon Lai Ming EBH - 537 10 - 58 605
Lee Man Yan ENE = 1,200 12 66,804 - 68,016
Kung Phong L] - 540 12 - - 552
Independent non-executive directors BV S TEE
Wan Chi Keung, Aaron JP ot 80 - - - - 80
Heng kwoo Seng itk
(resigned on 30.6.2010) (BHER2010%6A308) 40 - - - - 40
Wong Kai Tung, Tony THE 80 - - - - 80
Heng Victor Ja Wei Mx4&
(appointed on 30.6.2010) (RER201056A308) 40 - - - - 40
240 3447 34 66,804 58 70,583

note: The share-based performance related incentive was determined in recognition

of the director’s outstanding performance in development and management

of the chemical products business which has contributed a significant growth

in the Group's profit and as an incentive for his continuing commitment and

contribution to the Group in future. Other performance related incentive

payments were determined with regards to individual performance. No directors

waived any emoluments in the both years.
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15. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 15. EEM<

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the EREESURSFHMALTF - 813
Group, three (2010: two) were directors of the Company whose (2010 : 26 ) A REIES - HEFME
emoluments are disclosed in note 14 above. The emoluments of R L BiEE14 - MAEER267(2010: 3

the remaining two (2010: three) individuals were as follows: fDE&EFMALTZBESIT
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Salaries and other benefits e REMmER 1,687 2,112
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes — EARA@FIFTEI 3k 6 36
Discretionary bonus payments <A ES - 280
1,693 2,428

The emoluments were within the following band: & F T IEE -

2011 2010
Number of Number of
employees employees
BE#E EEEH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 #,2 1,000,000/ 7T 2 3
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % - BMEKZE
Furniture
fituresand  Leasehold
equipment  improvements Motor  Plantand Construction
Buildings  fffi - £E BE vehicles  machinery  in progress Total

L5 ERfE MREE RE HEREE  ERIE Gl
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKF000  HKF00O  HK000

TR TR TR TAL TAL TR TR

CosT A
At T January 2010 R2010F1A18

(originally stated) (3 136,097 8998 9339 3,381 963,571 25770 1,147,156
Effects of a change in 2iHEE

accounting policy bd -7 10111 16,045 6,699 5,264 83,870 - 121989
At T January 2010 (restated) ~ 12010F 18 1R (FE5]) 146,208 25,043 16,038 8645 1047441 25770 1269145
Exchange realignment B % 1,784 74 10 68 37,449 1,284 40,669
Additions RE - 3934 2177 933 1,948 148054 157,046
Disposals e - (354) - (408) (665) - (1,427)
Transfer fEves 1951 84 - - 59,533 (61,568) -
At 31 December 2010 (restated) #2010F12A31B(FEF) 149943 28781 18,225 9238 1,145,706 113540 1465433
Exchange realignment i 2,283 97 4 138 50,559 3420 56,501
Additions AE - 1,664 - 1371 1,685 60,804 65,524
Disposals e - (474) - (155) (766) - (1,395)
Disposals upon Spin-off AHFRNEE (97,051) (26973) (18,229) (7,047) (44,308) - (193,608)
Transfer 8 620 364 - 4 175774 (176,804) -
At 31 December 2011 #2011%12A318 55,795 3459 - 3591 1328650 90 1392455
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 January 2010 #201051 A18 (5

(originally stated) - - - - - - -
Effects of a change in 2iHREE

accounting policy e 56,418 19513 10967 6879 101,650 - 195427
At 1 January 2010 (restated) ~ 52010F 1818 (£E3]) 56,418 19513 10967 6879 101,650 - 195427
Provided for the year AERR 7,134 2682 698 782 84,703 - 95999
Exchange realignment ERAE 145 33 - 38 4330 - 4546
Eliminated on disposal HERH = (330) = (275) 272) - (877)
At 31 December 2010 (restated) 720105 12B318(&E5)) 63,697 21,898 11,665 7424 190411 - 295,095
Provided for the year RERE 4772 1481 k9] 697 96,723 - 103,995
Exchange realignment EH AR 260 53 1 55 8290 - 8,659
Elimination on disposal PR - (373) - (155) (332) = (360)
Disposal upon Spin-off AHFRNEE (61,030) (21652) (11,988) (6,390) (37,909) - (138969)
At 31 December 2011 #2011%12A318 7,699 1407 - 1,631 257,183 - 267,920
CARRYING VALUE BEE
At 31 December 2011 20115128318 48,096 2052 - 1960 1071467 90 1,124,535
At 31 December 2010 (restated) 720105 128318(1E5)) 86,246 6,883 6,560 1814 955,295 113540 1,170,338
At T January 2010 (restated) 520101818 (F&5) 89,790 5530 5071 1,766 945,791 25770 1073718
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16.

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line at the following rates per annum:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 25%
Plant and machinery (Handbag Business) 20%
Plant and machinery (Chemical Business) 5%-—10%

The carrying values of the Group's property interests comprises
buildings on land under medium-term land use rights in the PRC.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land in the
PRC under medium-term lease.

16.

17.
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% - BEREREE)

Hitx - BEREREEB IARRE
BTIIFRTE -

BFRASYELE 5%
BRI - BB REE 20%
B 25%
RS e i Bs (FR%E75) 20%
TR e ies (b T27%) 5% —10%

AEBYEEDNRAEREETEER
FHETHLMEREL D EREEY -

ANEERE

AEBZENBEERBEREPEREALZ
REEE i o

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHER FHT FHETT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: DTEWMWLT -
Non-current asset EMEBEE 45,454 55,855 55,766
Current asset MENEE 929 1,235 1,210

46,383 57,090 56,976
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REYE

HK$'000
FHET

FAIR VALUE NE
At 1 January 2010 20101818 22,408
Currency realignment EH A 2,559
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss N EE NP B RIER 1,374
At 31 December 2010 20105124318 26,341
Currency realignment R (94)
Derecognised upon Spin-off R TREFEUHRER (26,247)

At 31 December 2011

MR2011412A831H

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 December
2010 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited, an independent firm
of professional property valuer, on the basis of open market value in
existing use. A surplus of HK$1,374,000 was dealt with in the profit
or loss.
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19.

B HRRM

(For the year ended 31 December 2011)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

18.

The carrying value of investment properties as at 31 December

REMHE(E)

LA EZ25 2 HEMER2010F12 A31

2010 shown above comprises: B2 IRFEEIE
2010
HK$'000
FAT
— freehold land in Thailand MR ZRBI K A ZERE i 12,598
— buildings on freehold land in Thailand IR RBKA R L 28T 15,745
26,341
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BEE
Technical
knowhow
i A0 54k
HK$'000
FAT
THE GROUP AEE
COST 5N
At 1 January 2010 R2010F1A1H 9,659
Addition NE 568
Currency realignment EH A 360
At 31 December 2010 M201012H31H 10,587
Addition NE 904
Currency realignment EH R 471
At 31 December 2011 20114 12A31H 11,962
AMORTISATION #e
At 1 January 2010 201061 H1H 1,179
Provided for the year ANFE 1,019
Currency realignment E R 66
At 31 December 2010 201012 831H 2,264
Provided for the year NF E 1,055
Currency realignment TEH R 200
At 31 December 2011 M2011412H31H 3,519
CARRYING VALUE R TE {EL
At 31 December 2011 MR2011612A31H 8,443
At 31 December 2010 72010 12H31H 8,323
At 1 January 2010 F2010F1H1H 8,480
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19.

20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The technical knowhow was acquired from third parties. It is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of ten
years.

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Annual Report 2011 3

19. BEEE(E)

BRAMAMBBEESR =T - AR +F
ZIEEHERERA - REREEH -

20. HEZEFER2ER

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT

Cost of unlisted investments in jointly — FE_ET HEZEHIE RS
controlled entities ZIREKAR 4,545 4,545 -

Share of profit and other comprehensive &k E fth 2 d 25

income 389 161 -
4,934 4,706 =

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group had interests in the
following jointly controlled entities:

R2010F K2011F12A31H « A&E
BB AT RGBS 2

Proportion of issued

Place of and fully paid up
establishment/ capital indirectly held
Name of jointly controlled entity incorporation by the Group Principal activities
rEEREESE
HEEHEREE X 3L 3t B HY = B & A< H B FEEWR
2011 2010
BARBEEARAT (note i) PRC 50% 50% Provision of port facilities
A O
Southern Hill Company Limited (note i) Hong Kong 50% — Investment holding
KA
maBX¥nBR AR (note i) PRC 50% — Provision of port facilities
A O
notes: et -

(i)  The company is a sino-foreign owned enterprise registered and operates in PRC.

(i) On 28 June 2011, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement with Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (“LMP") and Southern Hill Company Limited
for the purpose of establishing a Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE")
named ¥ & B XY ABRA A The registered capital, investment amount and
costs and expenses of the WFOE are borne by the Group and LMP on a pro-rata
basis. Details of the agreement are disclosed in announcement of the Company
dated 28 June 2011.

(i) The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Southern Hill Company Limited.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011)

20.

21.

INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(CONTINUED)

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
interest in the jointly controlled entities which is accounted for using

the equity method is set out below:

-

20. HEEHIERERE(E)

BERAEERE KRZES

ZHIEE

B B REhAARE - BT

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Current assets MBEE 12,171 3,783
Non-current assets FEMBENEE 2,177 1,089
Current liabilities ik IN=NE (14) (166)
Non-current liabilities FERBARE (9,400) -
Income recognised in profit or loss RN IERERARA 16 -
Expenses recognised in profit or loss RIRERRNAI X H (9) -
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEERE 221 161

INVENTORIES 21. &

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET T

Raw materials and consumables R E R FEF @ 56,784 95,395 58,153
Work in progress el & 8,809 45,822 38,410
Finished goods Bk T 30,027 26,855 11,812
95,620 168,072 108,375
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
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22. EWE S KREAMFRIE

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHETT FH&TT

Trade receivables FEWE SR 36,373 100,322 84,129
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B RIBRRAEE - (350) (360)
36,373 99,972 83,769

Bills receivables B EE 207,417 141,119 70,174
243,790 241,091 153,943

Prepayment and deposits BRREET® 37,154 60,268 22,667
Other receivables E b el FkIA 12,657 2,964 1,777
Total trade and other receivables EUNE 5 K E 308 293,601 304,323 178,387

The aged analysis of trade and bills receivables based on the invoice

EUE S MEBRRARRERRZER

date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: HHAZ BREAT -
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Less than 30 days DR30K 236,398 208,015
31-60 days 31E60K 7,392 25,635
61-90 days 61290k - 4,317
Over 90 days 90K A | - 3,124
243,790 241,091

The following amounts of trade receivables, bills receivables and

ATRKE SR BRER R E MR

other receivables are denominated in currencies other than the HAEE R AR EE LN E
functional currency of the relevant group entities. BEZOER ©

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Euro BT - 12,791

RMB AR - 472

HK dollars BT 7,392 2,285

7,392 15,548
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22.

mE BRI

(For the year ended 31 December 2011)

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality by investigating its historical
credit record and then defines its credit limit. Trade receivables
that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring
attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the
Group.

The Group generally allows its trade customers a credit period
ranged from 7 to 60 days. During the year, no allowance for
doubtful debts was provided (2010: HK$204,000). The Group
generally makes provision against debts which are considered as
not recoverable. As at 31 December 2011, no amount of trade and
bills receivable was past due (2010: HK$8,110,000). The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

22.

FEW & 5 R EA KA ()

Pl

REREMHFEFH  AEEEBHE
BEFZBEEEREMERBEEEREY
BYBRAEEEERE - REAEH
PRERASNEMEERT R ZR AT - REEIBEATR
EREZ BWE 5 R E B RIER

AEBGETESITFPZ2EEHR—RK
NF7E60H - RAFE - WEEHLR
BR B 45 (20104F : 204,000/ L) ° A
EE—RERATRERE 2 EBTR
B o R2011F 128310 - #EpEL
BSBRERNREEFRIBE (20104 -
8,110,000/ 7L) » AL W EZE4L
BRIF A TR o

2B H TR E M E W E S RIERER W
T :

2010

HK$'000

FET

0-30 days DR30K 133

31-60 days 31260K 1,226

61-90 days 61E90K 4,282

Over 90 days 90K E 2,469

Total 8,110
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts BREHE2BMNT

2011 2010

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Balance at beginning of the year FYEEER 350 360

Impairment losses recognised on receivables  JEURBR ZRATRE - 204

Amount written off as uncollectible TRl Bl 2 MBRE & 58 (123) (212)

Amount recovered during the year FAERE 2258 - 6)

Disposal upon Spin-off PHRENRE (232) -

Exchange realignment TEH AR 5 4

Balance at end of the year FREERR - 350

A20114 128318 » EEW EF G A
#(2010 : 32,387,000/ 7T ) #5 B (LK
R o

At 31 December 2011, the Group did not hold any collateral over
the overdue balance (2010: HK$32,387,000).
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23.

24.

LOAN TO A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY 23.

As at 31 December 2011, the amount represented shareholder’s
loan due to Southern Hill Company Limited. The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable after five years subject to
management review.

Annual Report 2011 3

HEEHEEZER

R2011F 128318 @ ZSHIBEHEEE
BTHEEERARZER - EBFEA
EII - FEERARAFEREE I
MEEEER -

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24. (THES@T A
Current Non-current
mE FERE
31.12.2011  31.12.2010 1.1.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAT FAT THET FAT FAT
Derivative financial assets TESRMEE
— net settlement - FEEE
Other derivatives (not HifTE TR (L FHEZ
under hedge accounting)  ¥WHEHEAR)
Foreign exchange contracts ~ SMNE R BAH - = 704 - = =
Derivative financial liabiliies 744 @&
~ net settlement — R
Derivatives under BHWETEAR
hedge accounting ZIUTETR
Interest rate swaps (note ) FI=ISE(ff54) - = = (2,963) = =
Other derivatives (not HifTE TR (MR
under hedge accounting)  ¥HEHEAR)
Interest rate swaps M ER
(note fi) (Hiizi) - - - (177) - -
Foreign exchange contracts SN BAK
(note iii) (hiaii) - (530) - - - -
- (530) 704 (3,140) - -

The fair values of interest rate swaps are calculated using discounted
cash flow analysis based on the applicable yield curves of interest
rates and volatility of foreign exchange rates as determined by the
counterparties.

The derivative financial instruments are denominated in US dollars
which is not the functional currency of the relevant group entity.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

notes:
() Interest rate swaps — under hedging accounting

The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of its variable-rate US dollars bank borrowings (see note 28) by
swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank borrowings from variable interest
rates to fixed interest rates. The interest rate swaps and the corresponding bank
borrowings have substantially the same terms and the directors of the Company
consider that the interest rate swaps are highly effective hedging instruments.
Major terms of the interest rate swaps outstanding at 31 December 2011 are
set out below:

Notional amount
HeesE

Interest rate swap
F R

. FTESRIAH)

Wit -

(U]

R — B+

AEBEAM XL - BBKHHF 2R
BERTFENRRERETHE  BHEE
BIKF EETTRITERAREZBRESREF)
RE (RHEE28) o FlR i85 R ARME 2 8717
EBERBHEEGHERGER - ESRAFIRE
AT IER AR R T A - R20114E12831
AR E BIERETIT

1 contract with US$22,000,000
11922,000,000ETT A #)

1 contract with US$15,000,000
11 15,000,000E L4 4

The above contracts will mature within three to five years from the end of the
reporting period.

There were no interest rate swaps outstanding as at 31 December 2010.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, loss from fair value changes
of HK$2,963,000 was recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and is expected to be released to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income at various dates in line with the interest
and principal payments schedule of the corresponding bank borrowings in the
coming three to five years. A loss from fair value changes of HK$1,508,000
(2010: nil) was recognised in profit or loss as it presented the net interest
settlement of the interest rate swaps during the year.

(ii) Interest rate swaps — not under hedge accounting

Major terms of a contract outstanding as at 31 December 2011 not under
hedge accounting are as follows:

Notional amount

e

Interest rate swap

R R =

(i)

From LIBOR to fixed rate of 1.68%
HRRBERTTRIZER SEBHE

TE 5. 1.68%

From LIBOR + 1.75% to fixed rate of 2.83%
R BERITRIEFE+1.75%I8 S £.2.83%

ElREHBHBERRE=ERFAZH -

R20105F12 831 B (LA R KRG8 o

FR - HAFESBESE 2 E1E/A2963,000
BLTEREMEE RS AER RN ERT 2R
TR BHBERAR=ZZERFESEE
FITEEZAERAS I NERATRB T

iR Wsk - HATFEZHELNEIE
1,508,000/ 7C (2010 : £ )BERENEBZERF
R AT RIS H 2 R S AEEFE -

R - R

R201161283103FE
FZEFIT ¢

DR 2~ AKN

1 contract with US$38,000,000
11938,000,000% L4 4

The above contract will mature within four years from the end of the reporting
period.
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From LIBOR + 2% to fixed rate of 2.93%
HRBERTTRIZETF B +2%i= 8 E

TE £.2.93%
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 24, FTEESRMTEA(E)

(Continued) Hiat - (&)

Foreign exchange contracts (iii) MEHRBED

The amount represents the fair value of foreign exchange contracts held by the E@FENINEHIBE O TFEREERE

Group with terms stated as follows: FIER -

Notional amount Maturity Exchange rate

et ZH A R

As at 31 December 2010

7A2010F12H31H

Sell EUR965,606 09.03.2011 1 EURO: 1.26600 USD

JHB 965,606

The derivative was measured at fair value for year ended 31 December 2010. FTHETAR2010F12A31 BAAFEE ©

There were no foreign exchange contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2011. M2011512 831 BAMINE HIMA L -
25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25. RITEBRREE

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short

term

bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

The deposits carry prevailing market interest rates which range from
0.50% to 5.80% (2010: 0.2% to 1.91%) per annum.

The following amounts of bank and cash are denominated in the
foreign currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

RITEHRIASOEARERA RS
RIRARIEA S R3E A 2 H 2 /2 5
RITEAR - ZFEFHIRM S FHFEX
0.50% to 5.80%(2010 : 0.2%Z1.91%)
BN

A TRTT R & G AR S E [EE
MR R B SN B RC AR ©

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Euro BRIT - 1,230
RMB AR - 2,259
HK dollars BT 3,151 56,036
US dollars ETT 134,000 1,458
137,151 60,983
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. BNEZREMEA
Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding ENESREMFRBEIERRESEE
for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The credit period obtained DEFEBRSKAZANRIE - EFEE
for trade purchases is 7 to 45 days. 2 FERREREAR TR 45K o
Included in trade and other payables are trade and bills payables of ENEZREMRIEREENERX
HK$56,306,000 (2010: HK$150,838,000). The aged analysis of & Z 4% 49 56,306,000 /& 7T (2010 :
trade and bills payables based on the invoice date at the end of the 150,838,000/ 7T ) © EITERAK R RERN
reporting period is as follows: REBRIZBEEA ZRESITOT ¢
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT FHET
Less than 30 days DR30K 44,243 80,433 88,508
31-60 days 31260K 3,473 33,009 22,905
61-90 days 61290k 1,120 29,291 21,843
Over 90 days 90K 7,470 8,105 4818
56,306 150,838 138,074
Receipt in advance LGN 59,167 53,275 22,561
Construction payable FER T2 3K 23,819 32,072 74,902
Other payables and accruals H A EATRR 50,942 77,345 58,454
Total trade and other payables EINE 5 R HMAFIB SR 190,234 313,530 293,991
The following amounts of trade and other payables are VAR FE A< B8 5 AR 3k B L At sRIE 45 LA AR
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the SEEBNIEEEE AN ERERER o

relevant group entities.

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FH&TT

RMB AR - 52,918
HK dollars BT 61 29,731
US dollars E7T - 6,825
61 89,474
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27. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
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27. EBEEQTRE

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHET T

Capital Nation Investments Limited
("Capital Nation”) - 926 1,040
LMP BGEM 201 6,029 7,871
201 6,955 8911

Capital Nation is beneficially owned and controlled by Ms. Lee
Man Lai who is a daughter of Mr. Lee Wan Keung, the controlling
shareholder of the Company's ultimate holding company, Fortune
Star. LMP is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee Wan
Keung.

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on
demand and aged within 90 days.
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28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. RITE
31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT FH&TT
Bank loans IRITEK 960,257 427,487 267,728
Bank import loans IRITADEBEERK 6,491 61,511 60,446
Bills discounted with recourse BiE R R =R ELIR - 32,387 44,274
966,748 521,385 372,448
Analysed as: par iy
Secured HEH - 32,387 44274
Unsecured AR 966,748 488,998 328,174
966,748 521,385 372,448
Carrying amount repayable: HEEIREE :
Within one year EZRFIFA 159,007 192,531
More than one year, but not BH1FEETBE2F
exceeding two years 180,130 41,808
More than two years but not B 2F BB HSF
more than five years 566,470 -
905,607 234,339

Carrying amount of bank loans that are AR RS HiRI4&E A1k

repayable within one year from the 1FREENAER
end of the reporting period and contain  B&#S 2K (B 1530 2
a repayment on demand clause RITEEREE 22,431 75,586
Carrying amount of bank loans that are BN R & HIRIEE B 1%
not repayable within one year from 1FANERE ARG RER
the end of the reporting period but EREBEIELZHRITEE
contain a repayment on demand FEE(ERSAE
clause (shown under current liabilities) N7/~ ) 38,710 211,460
966,748 521,385
Less: Amounts due within one year B TFAR S REE
shown under current liabilities mEEE TR (220,148) (479,577)
Amounts shown under non-current EIFRBEETIIR
liabilities DR 746,600 41,808
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28. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 28. BITER(E)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had available banking facilities MR2011 6128310 A&EBEAAZ

of approximately HK$1,337,846,000 (2010: HK$1,188,579,000) RITHREE# A 1,337,846,000% 7T

of which HK$966,748,000 (2010: HK$521,385,000) was utilised. (2010 : 1,188,579,000 % 7T ) + £
966,748,0007%8 7T (2010 : 521,385,000
BIL)EHEA -

At the end of the reporting period, all of the Group's borrowings REWERR - KEMABRITEREME

carried variable-rate interest. 2R e

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's AEBERZERNXEREWT

borrowings are as follows:

2011 2010
Effective interest rate: BERR A=
Borrowings &R 1.6% to 3%  0.8% to 2%
over HIBOR over HIBOR
or LIBOR or LIBOR
The following amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in REEREABEERIGEERETIEI
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant group ZIRITERENNWT -
entities.
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
US dollars e 656,748 144,066
Euro BT - 1,232
HK dollars BT 310,000 107,923
966,748 253,221
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. EEHIA
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets REEMBAREHECHERAZIER
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior ERIEEEREERESESHHMMT

reporting periods:

Accelerated

tax

depreciation

EiE

BiE

e

HK$'000

FHT

At 1 January 2010 (restated) 720101 818 (KE5) 24)

Credit to profit or loss TAER (20)

At 31 December 2010 (restated) 20108128318 (KE5)) (44)

Disposal upon Spin-off AIFREEE 44

At 31 December 2011 20114128318 -
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for RERIAGEROMNAT

financial reporting purposes:

2010 2009

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHT

(restated) (restated)

(RRE7) (&575)

Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIRBE 582 553
Deferred tax asset EEREAE (626) (577)
(44) (24)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax RI|BEBRR  XEBE SRS HAERA
losses of HK$8,606,000 (2010: HK$42,238,000) available to offset EEMARRB AN B IEEEAR
against future profits. Tax losses of HK$8,606,000 may be carried 8,606,000 7% 7T (2010 : 42,238,000 %8
forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on JC) ° BiIEE 188,606,000 7T Al 4 fR HA
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. AR o NARAORN AR - BN

BRI ERER RBELERIREE
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:
Authorised: S

At 1 January 2010, 31 December 2010

and 31 December 2011 2011412A31H

Issued and fully paid: BITRBR
At 1 January 2010, 31 December 2010

and 31 December 2011 20114128311

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital for both
years.

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 December 2001 for the
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible persons.
The Scheme had a term of 10 years from its adoption and therefore
it expired on 13 December 2010.

Under the Scheme, the Company's board of directors could at their
discretion grant options to (i) any director, employee or consultant
of the Company or a company in which the Company holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (ii)
any discretionary trust whose discretionary objects include any
director, employee or consultant of the Company or an Affiliate;
or (i) a company beneficially owned by any director, employee
or consultant of the Company or an Affiliate; or (iv) any customer,
supplier or adviser as may be determined by the directors of the
Company from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the
Company.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date of
grant. The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect
of which options might be granted under the Scheme was not
to exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company any
point in time. The maximum number of shares of the Company in
respect of which options might be granted to any individual in any
12-month period was not to exceed 1% of shares of the Company
in issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company was obtained in accordance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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20101818  2010F12A318 K&

20101818  2010F12A318 K&

Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZEROEE Tt
HK$'000
FET
5,000,000,000 500,000
825,000,000 82,500

RRR) 2 BARZMEFE AL EEE)

KARIERIE —IER2001F 12148 R
BZRBR  CEHEWBRRESI(E
2 ) UNEBESRABEAL - 5TEIR
RN BI0FEANB M - WHR2010F12 A
138 Em °

REE > ARRESS([EFE)A
BMEROAEE  AEEHEERAER
ZRARMEZARZMBE AR ([HER
ADZEMES - EEREM - R>iH)F
B ABRASENEBB AR ZEMNE
% EBSER 2 EA2RERT - (i)
HAEENEBMBARZERNES - &
BEH BEalE2Rm  H(vBE
FERNTRREZERES - #fERM%K
BER T REREARE AR ([
1) e

R T 2 BRESANER BERF21X
MR - BRERIBE MR L 2 BAE
g2 RN BE - EEARERST
BEBBARREBRITHRAZ10% ° BRI
RIBELTRRANESARRRRILAE B
AIFME 1218 A BRI T EEEBIA LT
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31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Options could be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held before it
could be exercised) as determined by the directors of the Company
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options could be granted without initial payment.
The exercise price was equal to the highest of (i) nominal value of
the shares of the Company; (i) the closing price per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets on the date of the
grant of the options; and (iii) the average closing price per share as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
options.

No options were exercised under the Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2011.

The following table discloses movements of the Company's share

31.

BRESTEI(E)

BRETRESSET <A BHREZH
AR R ETABBRELE105R - X
BREBRAER TITEMLARE Z&KE
HIR (I A)) ATTE - BAER £ HAE
BB Z ERTRE - S aliR T
ZHEPZEEHEERITEEROBRNDZ
|fE  (RORIRLEIREES BB
BRBERMIINZERKHE ¢ R(i)X
R ERER B BIRTS (AR 5 B R X AT
2B AMERMI 2 FEHERKTHE -

HE2011F12A318ILFE © AQF]
T AR R AT S R AR AE -

HZE2011F12A31BIEFE » AAR]

options during the year ended 31 December 2011: BIREZH25|T
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercised/
lapsed/ Granted/
Outstanding Granted  cancelled/ Outstanding Exercised Outstanding
Exercise Exercisable period at during during at during at
Director Date of grant price 1.1.2010 the year the year 1.1.2011 theyear  31.12.2011
#2010 m2011%F M20115F
1818 FRTHE/ 1818 £ 128318
= RiiAH TR THRE i RATHE FREL  FE/BH HRTHE BT i RATHRE
HK$
BT
Lee Man Yan 23.42010 6.69 23.42011-22.42015 - 27,500,000 - 27,500,000 - 27,500,000
T 23.42010 6.69 23.42012-22.42015 - 27,500,000 - 27,500,000 - 27,500,000
23.42010 6.69 23.4.2013-22.42015 - 27,500,000 - 27,500,000 - 27,500,000
Total By - 82,500,000 - 82,500,000 - 82,500,000
Brercisable at the end LR AI1T(E
of the year FciES] - 27,500,000
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The options granted on 23 April 2010 may be exercised in
accordance with the following terms:

®

(ii)

iir)

(iv)

up to one-third of the options (i.e. options for an aggregate of
27,500,000 shares) will be exercisable from 23 April 2011 to
22 April 2015 (both dates inclusive) if the consolidated net
profit after taxation (“Net Profit”) for the financial year ended
31 December 2010 equals or exceeds 115% of the Net Profit
for the financial year ended 31 December 2009;

up to two-thirds of the options (i.e. options for an aggregate
of 55,000,000 shares) will be exercisable from 23 April 2012
to 22 April 2015 (both dates inclusive) if the Net Profit for the
financial year ended 31 December 2011 equals or exceeds
130% of the Net Profit for the financial year ended 31
December 2009;

all of the options (i.e. options for an aggregate of 82,500,000
shares) will be exercisable from 23 April 2013 to 22 April
2015 (both dates inclusive) if the Net Profit for the financial
year ending 31 December 2012 equals or exceeds 145% of
the Net Profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2009;

to the extent any options have not become exercisable by
23 April 2014 (i.e. options for an aggregate of 82,500,000
shares), they will be exercisable from 23 April 2014 to
22 April 2015 (both dates inclusive) if the Net Profit for the
financial year ending 31 December 2013 equals or exceeds
160% of the Net Profit for the financial year ending 31
December 2009.

The option shall lapse if the options holder by reason of voluntary
resignation or by termination of his employment in accordance with
the termination provisions of his contract of employment.

At 31 December 2011, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme represented 10% (2010: 10%) of the issued share capital
at that date.
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2010F4 A23 BI% L R RTARIE AT
BB RERT B 2 ISR T1E ¢

@

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

WEZE2010F12 A31 B IEBTBAF
B2 FF BREERKBIREEE2009
F12A31 B LM ERFE 2 FHHE
115% @ Blsx % =5 2 — /AR iE
(BN Z&35t+#£27,500,0000% B A% 4 ) %
AIFR201194 823HE20154%4 A
2B (BREEMAR)ATTE

MEE2011E12A31 B It B4E
B2 FF EAER KB BEE2009
FNANALETBEE 2 FFE
130% @ Bl Z =5 2 — W B
(BN 2 5155,000,000 4% B8 A% 42 ) 35 7]
20124 823HE2015F4H22
B(BEBEMRX)ATTE

WEZE2012F12 A31 B I BF
B2 FFBBEERKBIEEZ2009
FNRAJNALEMRFEEZFHE
14500 + Bl 2 SEAE A% #E (B 2 5H &
82,500,000/% FE A% # ) #% A1 722013
F4R238E2015F4 8228 (84
BREMAR)RITE

mEEMBERECRDRFH
82,500,000 i fig Ix # ) E £ 2014
FAA23HWARREEBITERE - M0
HZE2013F 12 AZ31 B L BFE
ZFHEEER BB E E2009
F12A31 A LM ERFE 2 FFHE
160% @ A= ZPEEAREAS AT A 2014
FAF23HE2015F48228 (23
BREMX)RITE

T iE A A A B BB U R B HL B

()

M RIEIRSR AR IERE R - BB

HERRK o

MR2011F12H8318 » B KREER
R HE R MEFTE T W ATTERRK
109%(2010: 100%)fE 1t B BiE ZE1 TN -
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The total fair value of the share options granted under the Scheme
on 23 April 2010 is approximately HK$163,430,000, calculated
using the Binomial Model (the “Model"). The inputs into the Model
and the estimated fair value of the share options are as follows:

R2010F4 A23B AR R ERE 2 A F
E1E A#%)163,430,000/8 7T » & — 1A
R (A ) ETE - BRRNE KER
B2 BT RATEEZMT

Share options

with an

Share options Share options exercisable

with an withan  period from

exercisable exercisable  23.4.2013 to

period from  period from 22.4.2015

BREZ Rz R

fTEEHm fTEHm fTEHM

23.4.2011 23.4.2012 23.4.2013

to £ to to 2

22.4.2015 22.4.2015 22.4.2015

Share price at date of grant REHBHZRE HK$6.69 HK$6.69 HK$6.69
Exercise price 111EE HK$6.69 HK$6.69 HK$6.69
Expected volatility TAHIK 8 53.62% 53.62% 53.62%
per annum per annum per annum

Expected life of share options B TR B A 5 years 5 years 5 years
Expected dividend yield RS X 4.75% 4.75% 4.75%
Risk-free rate 2 [ f G 7 2.03% 2.03% 2.03%
Fair value of share option - AN R HK$1.78 HK$2.02 HK$2.15

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of share price over the previous five years. The expected life used
in the Model has been adjusted, based on management's best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions
and behavioural considerations.

The risk free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of the
5-year exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority as of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of
the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions.

Share option expense of approximately HK$62,370,000 was
recognised in the general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: HK$66,804,000), calculated
with reference to the vesting period.

86

BB EARBBERFATAREZ
BESLRBETE - BAMKBBHFHD
MATAEE - (TERILTAERE
EREBEREMGRE -

BRAEHEESeHER R BEH
SMER S % A it A RIS -

BHLRBRBIETERREZAFEE
E%ﬁi%ﬁfﬂéﬁ.ﬁr 0 E%H%%EEEEE‘I?%%
A% < A & 2 2

B8 A% 7 S H 4962,370,00078 7T B R &
Z201MF12A31BIEEREZHEEAS
MR ERAITERE R F#ER(2010 :
66,804,000/87C) © WIASRBEIB &£t
ﬁo



Annual Report 2011 3

32. OPERATING LEASES 32. KREHRELN
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Minimum lease payments paid under FREBMAEYELEHLD
operating leases in respect of office premises ZEIERENTK
during the year 127 2,658

33.

34.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases HK$72,000 (2010: HK$30,000) which fall due within one
year.

The commitments for operating lease payments represent rentals
payable by the Group for office properties. Leases are negotiated for
an average term of one year (2010: one year). Rentals are based
on the terms specified in the lease agreements.

RI|ER » EEAHER —FADEM
N AN A] J B B (K FH B 5188 A 72,000
(2010 © 30,00057T) ©

KEHENRREREAEBRERAE
MERMNZES  HEZFHHABA—
F(2010: —F)  He HREHE R
W2 IETEIERETE -

OTHER COMMITMENT 33, HibhEig
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for RIRERR - NEERB T A HEERE
future consultancy fee payments under non-cancellable contracts MEXHEH - HREBBAWNT :
which fall due as follows:
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Within one year —FRX 180 180
In the second to fifth year inclusive REZZERFA 450 630
630 810
In addition, at the end of the reporting period, the Group had hoh - RIEHR  SEEFTAMNU
contractual commitments for acquisition of land use rights 55,642,000 /& st (2010 : 23,075,000
of HK$55,642,000 (2010: HK$23,075,000). It also had ABIT)BAT M RE o BINEGGE T
commitments for granting shareholder's loan of HK$37,400,000 37,400,000 TR IR R EZX (20104 -
(2010: Nil) to a jointly controlled entity. ) THRAEHERE -
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. BAERE
2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not ERTAMBERRER A B Bk
provided in the consolidated financial BB BRI
statements in respect of:
— the acquisition of property, plant —BEWE BB K&K
and equipment 150,663 17,471
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35.

e R R M EE

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Defined benefit scheme

The Group is a member of a defined benefit scheme which was
open to qualified employees of companies under the control of
Fortune Star. In December 2000, all the then existing members
of the defined benefit scheme were enrolled into a MPF Scheme
and their accrued benefits for the past services under the defined
benefit scheme were frozen as at 30 November 2000. The defined
benefit scheme was closed to new employees from December
2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit scheme, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0 and 100% of their salary as
at 30 November 2000 multiplied by the pensionable service up to
30 November 2000 on attainment of a retirement age of 55. No
other post-retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the
present value of the defined benefit obligation was carried out
as at 31 December 2010 by HSBC Life (International) Limited.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related
current service cost and past service cost were measured using
the projected unit credit method. All defined benefit assets were
disposed upon spin-off of the Handbag Business during the year.

35.

RAERIETE
SEF TS

AEBAE—BATEN=AEIZKE @ %
HEEAEBARIZAARERMR -
200012 8 + REN=ETEIE R 2 Fr
EXEBEEDMARESHE  ERR
ENZTE T BAEREZ 2BAEER
2000 11 A30B R & - REF=aT
Z|JNEH2000F 12 AN BEZFEE I
]\ o

RIEBEREF=TE - EERFESSR
BIRZERE - A Z BRI F TR E
RER2000F 11 A308 Z & B 2 00%Z=
100% 15 + WA ZE2000F 11 A30
HIEZEAERRKESZRBTE - &%
B I R IR E A RIRIEEF o

FHEIE E M AT RIS AEIRE 2 &8
BEETREEASRE(BE)GR
ARIR2010F 12 A31 BELFFE - &
TEF = AMEIRE - MR 2R R A
O 1 AR 7 AK AR T £R R T8 i B8 62 7| 2 0%
FE - ISAENREERFRAIFTF
REFSEFEMER -

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FERA T2REMRAT
2010
Per annum
Fx
Discount rate ARIR 0%
Expected return on plan assets FTEIEETR BRI 3%
Expected rate of salary increases FTENTEER LR 0%

The actuarial valuation shows that the market value of plan assets
at 31 December 2010 was HK$9,705,000 and that the actuarial
value of these assets represented 130% of the benefits that were
accrued to members.

The credit recognised in the profit or loss in respect of the defined

benefit scheme was of HK$288,000 at 31 December 2010 which
was included as other income.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 35.
Defined benefit scheme (Continued)
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial

position arising from the Group’s obligation in respect of its defined
benefit retirement benefit plan is as follows:

Annual Report 2011 3

RABERFTE(E)
RERNzEE(E)
SEBRATEMSRINENFEIMEE 2

AEDBIIAGA B BRAEAZ B
e

2010

HK$'000

FAT

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations AT ZAEFIEZIRE 7,480
Fair value of plan assets EIEE 2 A THEEAE (9,705)
(2,225)

Net actuarial losses not recognised RIER Z BEEE (2,313)
Defined benefit asset AREMNmEEEEZFEE (4,538)

Movements in the present value of the funded defined benefit
obligations in 31 December 2010 were as follows:

2010 12 A31 HAE =& IEREE
EYPCRNE

2010

HK$'000

FHET

Opening balance HAW) &R 8,194

Benefit paid EARE (714)

Closing balance HR A 81 7,480
Movements in the fair value of the plan assets on 31 December FAFFEEEZATEZHET :

2010 were as follows:

2010

HK$'000

FHETT

Opening balance RS 9,936

Expected return on plan assets STEEETEAE R 288

Benefit paid EASHER (714)

Actuarial gains BE WS 195

Closing balance HARAEER 9,705
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 35. EARBRFEIE)

Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

The major categories of plan assets at the end of 31 December
2010 are as follows:

REFSEEEI(E)

AEIEE T BN B NFAHEHRER R
EHIRD BT ¢

2010
HK$'000
THET

&
Be

Debt instruments
Cash

The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the
expected returns of the various categories of plan assets held. The
directors’ assessment of the expected return is based on historical
return trends and analysis predictions of the market for the asset in
the next twelve months.

The expected return on plan assets for the year was HK$288,000 in
2010.

The plan assets do not include any equity shares in the Company or
property held by the Group.

9,385
320

9,705

g 2 MO TIRE 2 NRBERI
ZEEFEHEH 2 NETFY - EFEHTA
HA[O ¥ 2 FF G TY RN AR B RS 8k e
S EBENAR+ MR 2B -

R2I0FHEEEZERERA
288,000/ T °

AABEECAFEEYERSARALZ
AR R AR ER A 2

The history of experience adjustments is as follows: BERAERERNOT
2010
HK$'000
FHET

Present value of defined benefit obligations FRIEMRARLBRE 7,480
Fair value of plan assets SEIBEZ A TE (9,705)
Surplus P (2,225)
Actuarial gain on plan assets FHEIEERE W (195)
Defined contribution scheme REMARGE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provided Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes monthly
the lower of HK$1,000 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
government of the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make
the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$3,600,000 (2010:

HK$1,732,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes
by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.
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AEBERMAEERNERRY —HR
Beatdl - ZAtBIZEERAKE 2 E
EDRRH - YAXFEAZS - AEH
SRS 5t Bl F1,000/8 THEEE A
HENAK AN 2 5% (ABIEE RE) - MRS
AR AR

AEEZPENBARZEEHSTE
BREE 2BERABNEZKE -
ZER BN B AR AR 2 & T
B RRRERIE IR - AR E Y
BREKBENGEIZETREHEEZ

AR o

48X 753,600,000/ 7T (2010 : 1,732,000
B BRI ABREA - WhEBRASET
AR SR El 2 FET LR EK -



The Group had significant transactions and balances with related
parties (see notes 23 and 27) during the year and at the end of the

reporting period as follows:

Name of related party

Connected parties
BEAL

* Capital Nation

*Lee & Man Realty
Investment Limited

BXEXARAR

LMP
BER

Lee & Man Management

Relationship

A company beneficially
owned and controlled by
Ms. Lee Man Lai

HENEBRLTERER
P & A/NG]

A company beneficially
owned and controlled by
Mr. Lee Man Yan and
Mr. Lee Wan Keung

BEXBEE RFERSEE
BalEA MES 2 A7

A company beneficially
owned and controlled by
Mr. Lee Wan Keung

HEEREEERER
P& AN

A company beneficially

(I

Nature of transactions

Corrugated cardboard and
carton boxes purchased

BE IS AR M AR

Licence fee paid

EffEREE

Electricity and steam fee paid
ENEERERE

Fuel expense paid
ERTRE

Rental expense paid
ENEE

Sales of chemical products
HE( TEmM

Management consultant

Limited owned and controlled by fee paid
BYEBRRRAA Mr. Lee Wan Keung BENEREME
HEERELERHER
KAzl 2 28]
& These transactions are related to the Handbag Business prior to the Spin-off. e
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2011
HK$'000
TET

1,411

778

71,698

456

6,947

ERAZZRAFRIBNFRE -

AEBEBEALTNFRAMETZEX
R ERBEPR 2 &R (M FE23 5227)

2010
HK$'000
TAT

4,089

1,555

59,666

215

912

10,738
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36.

317.

BRI

(For the year ended 31 December 2011)

(BZE2011F12A31BILFE)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

Except for the related party transactions and balances described
above, the Group has entered into a joint venture arrangement with
LMP. Details of the joint venture and the capital commitment to the
jointly controlled entity are set out in note 23 and 34 respectively to
the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

36.

REX S R&ER(E)

B E PR BEA LR 5 RAERRIN - K
SEEEBYERITYIGERRRE - A
BRBINEHRESER 2 EANRIEF
BRI ERAR S B ISR M E23 %34 ©

BEEREMFEEEERERENFR B
ST :

2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Short-term employee benefits 72 ERTE A 13,988 9,518
Post-employment benefits RURREAR 28 130
Share-based payment performance VAR A7 AR HE 2 RIAAERA SEE ©

related incentive 62,370 66,804
76,386 76,452

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 37. FEBMRS
During the year, purchases of property, plant and equipment FAN-EEDE BERIBERER

and intangible assets of HK$54,897,000 and Nil (2010:
HK$91,221,000 and HK$568,000), respectively, were settled
through transfer of deposits paid.

On 22 June 2011, the Spin-off of the Handbag Group was effected
by way of distribution of the Handbag Business amounting to
approximately HK$195 million to the Company's shareholders on
pro rata basis.
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BED R A54,897,000/ T REHIT
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December

Annual Report 2011 3

38. TEMEALAT

R2010F K2011F12 A31B ARG 2

2011 and 2010 are as follows: FTEWBRRFENAT :
Nominal value of issued
Place of and fully paid share Attributable
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital/paid-in capital equity interest Principal activities*
ERTRBERAEE
WEA R AR ERA LS BEARE Ly 5 TEXY
2011 2010
Lee & Man Chemical Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Shares — US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
B IBRAH RERKES ES RERR
Lee & Man (International) Hong Kong Ordinary shares — HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Limited B LBRM- 10087 RERR
EX(ER)REARAR
Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited ~ PRC Paid-in capital - 100% 100%  Manufacture and sales of
("Jiangsu L&M") (note) F US$78,750,000 chloromethane products,
TEE UL TARAR(DIEEN) EHRA- caustic soda and hydrogen
(Hit) 78,750,000 peroxide
EERHETRELY - B
S cE=R
Guangdong Lee & Man Chemical PRC Paid-in capital - 100% 100%  Research and development of
R&D Limited (note) H US$2,020,000 chemical products
ERE(L IHEARAT ERIRA-2,020,000%T PR IER
Jiangyi Lee & Man Chemical PRC Paid-in capital - 100% - Under construction
Limited (note) A US$17,000,243 g1
THEXCITERAF BAIRA-17,000,243% T
Lee & Man Development British Virgin Islands  Shares — US$90 - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited RERAHE Rin-90%TT REEK
BEXEREARAR
Lee & Man Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares — - 100%  Manufacture and sales of
B FTARRR BE HK$1,000,000 handbags
L3EMR17- 100000047 RERHETR
Non-voting deferred
shares — HK$1,000,000
ERFEETRG-
1,000,000/ 7T
Lee & Man Handbag Manufacturing ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares — HK$10,000 - 100%  Manufacture and sales of
Company Limited 0 EiBk{7- 10,000% T handbags
BYFRBERAR Non-voting deferred BUEREEFR

shares - HK$500,000
BREEETRN
- 500,000/ 7T
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COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Nominal value of issued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

38. FEMBLAT(E)

Place of and fully paid share Attributable
Name of subsidiary incorporation capital/paid-in capital equity interest Principal activities*
BRIRARRAER
WELRER A LR BaRE Frib s FEEHR
2011 2010
Dongguan Lee Wai Handbag PRC Paid-in capital - - 100%  Manufacture and sales of
Manufacturing Company Limited HK$6,000,000 handbags
(note) BaRA- HETHEFR
SMEFRERDAMEL) 6,000,000

Lee & Man Management Hong Kong Ordinary shares — HK$2
Company Limited 0 LEki- 28T

BYEBRBRATF

& The principal activities were carried out in the PRC and Hong Kong.

note: These companies are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign investment
enterprise.

Only Lee & Man Chemical Limited was directly held by the
Company.

The deferred shares of the above entities practically carry no rights
to participate in profits or surplus assets or to receive notice of or to
attend or vote at any general meeting of the respective companies
or to participate in any distribution on winding up.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year, or at any time during the year.
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39.

40.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the bank loans disclosed in note 28, net of bank balances
and cash, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

40a. Categories of financial instruments

39.

40.
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EXEpmER

REBETERERE - AERAKEE
TEEREAFELLEY  ARKES
BAL B R RN A5 R T B R @ % K
£ - ARENEEBRES LFEREN

ik

oo

REEHE AR GERE B EFAE R EHN
28 B NERIRITAE R MIR SR AVIRTT
EF) AR R ERTF A ARGERS(E2S
BEETRAREIAME)

ARREZRHGBEELERNENRE -
ERERBEHNNE D  EEEEEEX
RARESBERNBBRR - REES
MR AEEFERRNEE - BT
HRARBEITHEATFEEEREARR
e

E@MIT A

40a. SR T E 2 HER

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET FAET
Financial assets THEE
Loans and receivables (including ERREVGIE(BERS
cash and cash equivalents) MR EMEEE) 1,498,955 635,434 227,055
Derivative financial instruments TEESRITA - = 704
Financial liabilities THEEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REENANSRAaE 1,061,396 728,215 611,524
Fair value through profit or loss — ATHEFABE —TESH
derivative financial instruments TA 177 530 -
Derivatives under hedge accounting REPETHERNITE S R
TE 2,963 = =
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, loan to a jointly controlled entity, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
amounts due to related companies and derivative financial
instruments. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(1)  Currency risk

In 2010 the Group mainly operated in Hong Kong and
the PRC and the exposure in exchange rate risks mainly
arose from fluctuations of foreign currencies, including US
dollars, RMB, HK dollars and Euro against the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. Upon the Spin-off,
the Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arise from fluctuations of
foreign currencies, including US dollars and HK dollars
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. Material transactions and balances that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
entities give rise to foreign currency exposure as follows:

(i) US dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash
and bank borrowings.

(i) HK dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash
and bank borrowings.

Exchange rate fluctuations and market trend have
always been the concern of the Group. Management
will monitor the foreign currency exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when the need
arises.
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40b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 40b. B EREE B BEREE(E)

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) mEEE ()
()  Currency risk (Continued) () EEEEE)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
the Group's monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities are as follows:

Assets BE
Euro BT
RMB AR
HK dollars BT
US dollars x5
Liabilities =L
Euro BT
RMB AR
HK dollars BT
US dollars =

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% appreciation and depreciation in the functional
currency of the relevant group entities (including RMB
for 2011 and RMB, HK dollars and US dollars for 2010)
against the above foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity
rate and represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items other than those
denominated in HK dollars but held by entities whose
functional currency is US dollars because HK dollars are
linked to US dollars. The sensitivity analysis adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A strengthening of the functional currency
of the relevant group entities against the above foreign
currencies would give rise to the following impact to
profit for the year and vice versa.
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2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
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3,151 58,321
141,392 1,458
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- 52,918
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40.

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)  Currency risk (Continued)

EMITAGE)

40b. YK EBREEBERBE (&)

TERE (&)

) EEEBE)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BUREDIT(E)
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Monetary assets and liabilities: EBHEERAR
(Decrease) increase on profit for FREHEMEMORD)
the year
— Euro —BRT - (639)
— HK dollars — BT 15,346 -
- RMB —AR¥ - 2,509
— US dollars = 25,768 7,130
Derivative financial instruments: PTHEERTIA
Increase on profit for the year BINMF RN 2
— Euro —BUT - 27
— US dollars —3%7T 3,953 =

(ir)  Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risks mainly relate to
its variable rate borrowings (see note 28 for details of
these borrowings). In 2010, the Group did not have any
interest rate hedging policy in relation to fair value and
cash flow interest rate risks. In 2011, it is the Group's
policy to keep its borrowings at fixed interest rate so as
to minimise the cash flow interest rate risk. In order to
achieve this result, the Group entered into certain interest
rate swaps to partially hedge against its exposures to
variable interest-rate of bank borrowings. The critical
terms of these interest rate swaps are similar to those
of hedged borrowings. These interest rate swaps are
designated as effective hedging instruments and hedge
accounting is used. The Group's bank balances also
have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. the directors consider the Group's exposure
to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its short term
fixed-rate bank deposits is not significant as interest
bearing bank balances are within short maturity periods.
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40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for both non-
derivative and derivative instruments at the end of the
reporting period. For variable —rate bank borrowings,
to the extent that they are not hedged by effective
instruments and bank balances, the analysis is prepared
assuming the stipulated change taking place at the
beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout both years in the case of instruments that
have floating rates. 10 basis point and 50 basis point
increase or decrease are used by the management for
the assessment of the possible change in interest rates of
variable rate bank balances and variable rate borrowings,
respectively.

If interest rates had been 10 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2011
would increase or decrease by HK$1,223,000 (2010:
HK$86,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank
balances.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2011
would decrease or increase by HK$4,834,000 (2010:
HK$2,607,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

For derivative financial instruments, the sensitivity analysis
below has been determined assuming that interest rate
had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables
were held constant, the impact on the Group's profit and
equity, and vice versa.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR
(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A318IEFE)

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. €@MITA(E)

40b. i EREEEERBER (&)

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(ir)  Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

S mbEE ()
(i) FIEEREE(E)
BRI (E)
Increase Increase

in profit in equity
R b0 FEZRIEH0

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T

At 31 December 2011 1 15
At 31 December 2010 N/A N/A

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group is also exposed
to concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion of its
sales is generated from a limited number of customers. At
31 December 2011, the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 31% (2010: 549%) of the Group's
trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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40b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 40b. B EREE B BEREE(E)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the Group's liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
The Group also has unutilised banking facilities (note 28) of
approximately HK$371,098,000 (2010: HK$667,194,000)
to meet its short-term working capital requirements. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent the interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

REEZEE

EEERDECERE  ~5E
EMEREBEEREBRAETHNIR
MRS EBEBEEKRE  AEXE
ErEBEEREESWRER
CRERDNZE - AEBEET
BREZRTEREERKIE28)
#)7 #371,098,0007T (2010 :
667,194,000/ 7T) ° B EE TR
ITERAE AR RERETE K
249 o

TRAVNAEEEHEENS
HA - DREASE R ERERE
FNREAPERAENRREIRE
TRERH - ARRME @ AFKE
KERGEXZRITER - HEEHE
RERRZA - THIRITELER
TTREEER - RiITESRAR
Z BB RB A E MIE K B AT
B RRINBNERAEZEER
B RImERR XBEELEFE
MRFBFIE - MERREERA
RBEH E iR E -

Weighted
average Total
effective ~ On demand 31-60 61-90 91-365 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  or 0-30 days days days days 365days  cash flows amount
ERHE EERS fitil R
EFI% 0-30% 31-60% 61-90%  91-365% 5K REREAH kAR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET THR TET THR TER THR TER
As at 31 December 2011 #2011%128318
Non-derivative financial iabilties HittBIFEE
Non-interest bearing ESEE - 82,585 3473 1,120 1470 - 94,648 94,648
Variable interest rate instruments HEEIA 238 61,256 - 29473 132,808 764,444 987,981 966,748
143,841 3473 30,593 140,278 764,444 1,082,629 1,061,396
Derivative finanial instruments fi#2RTA
- net setflement interest rate swaps  —FlEiR HEEFE 3N 68 68 68 209 2,825 3,238 3,140
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

(For the year ended 31 December 2011) (EZE2011F12A3181EFE)

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. €@MIAE)

40b. YK EREEBEREE(E)

40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEBELEE(E)
Weighted
average Total
effecive  On demand 31-60 61-90 91-365 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate o 0-30 days days days days 365 days cash flows amount
EFHE 0-30k  31-60K 1-90K  91-365% 365K HenBE EaE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAT TET TAT TAL TAL TEL TAL
As at 31 December 2010 R2010612A318
Non-derivative financial labillties 7474 # BEIEEE
Non-interest bearing mEARE = 156,085 20559 19,848 10337 = 206,829 206,829
Variable interest rate instruments ~ #¥ S LA 178 431575 - - 49499 42552 523,626 521,386
587,660 20,559 19,848 59,836 42,552 730,455 728215
Derivative financial instruments 74 2B IA
- gross settlement &5
Foreign exchange forward contracts ~ SMNERE14 4)
~inflow —A = = = (19 - - (19 (19
- outflow —i = = = 549 = - 549 549
= = 530 = = 530 530

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “on demand or 0-30 days” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2011, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans
amounted to HK$61,141,000 (2010: HK$287,046,000).
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the directors
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid within one
to five years after the reporting date of 31 December 2011
in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements. The table that follows summarises the
maturity analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the
loan agreements.
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40b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

40c.

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted
average
effective ~ On demand 31-60
interest rate ~ or 0-30 days days
1 HIES EZXT,
9% 0-30% 31-60%
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEn Ti#n
As at 31 December 2011 #2011512A318
Bank loans RiTfas 230 1924 1421
As at 31 December 2010 20105125318
Bank loans HiTleR 207 1419 1419

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is
determined as follows:

«  the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative instruments) is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

«  derivative financial instruments are measured using
quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived
from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the
contracts.

The directors of the Group consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.
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40b. i EREEEERBER (&)

61-90
days

61-90%
HKS'000
TEn

1,421

16,495

40c.

HEBELEE(E)

Total
91-365 Over  undiscounted Carrying
days 365days  cash flows amount

it R
91-365% 5K REREAH fRAfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR T
12,185 39,808 63,359 61,141
58,454 220,652 298,439 287,046

NEEEEEFTESRARLT
PNXTEBAIREGEE - WFE
A = B B BRAE S 5 BASR b wt A )
BATTRE °

AT

TREENEREBEZ A FERIA
THAERE :

s TRIBENEMBEZAYE
(PTHETERRSN) - THimBAIRE
EREOMZ AREBERN
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40.

40c. Fair value (Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition
at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree
to which the fair value is observable.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

«  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

«  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

SMITEE)
40c. XFE(E)

TREHRER O PERRIRATE
B EZEMTIAZAN » BAF
BEZA#NEED RE—E2FE=

s FAXFEEFESZLFR
BEREZEXBBERNERTS
ZHRECRRHAR)FHE

s FE_BAFEEME/SZFR
BE—RAPTREBIAIN - 5L
BEXRBEBRGHZBARK
B(TwmAERERGH(AE
R REEBREH(BIaER
THE)RHZ&ER -

. ECQRATEMEHELREE
FEEREN 2 2 - b
B B SR BT
BB Y AER A M AN
BORTBEZ HARE) -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& B B=R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00
FHETT FHET FHET FHET
31 December 2011 20115128318
Financial liabilities at FVTPL &2\ F(BEF A B
BIEEE E
Derivatives not under hedge ~ FEIZ ¥ &sHE 2
accounting PTHETE - 177 - 177
Derivatives under hedge B EFEZ
accounting PTAETA - 2,963 - 2,963
31 December 2010 2010512A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL B FEEAER
k=4
Derivatives not under hedge ~ FEIR¥F @A 2
accounting PTHETHE - 530 - 530

These were no transfers between 3 levels in the current year.
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41.

DERECOGNITION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON SPIN-OFF

On 22 June 2011, as part of a reorganisation of the Group’s
businesses, the Company effected the Spin-off of the Handbag
Group by way of a distribution in specie to the Company's

shareholders on a pro rata basis.

Annual Report 2011 3

41. ROFEBEERRZ ZHEB AT

R2011FE6H22H  tEAREE%K S
HH—IR - NRBBBIRLLHIRARD A
ZRREREDDIR @ BFREBEHIF

The aggregate amounts of net assets of the Handbag Group on the FREFROWHEFEELRANOT ¢

date of Spin-off were as follows:

Net Assets Derecognised BUHERREE
HK$'000
FHETT
Property, plant and equipment M BB RRE 54,639
Prepaid lease payments TR 18,017
Investment properties wEME 26,247
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEMHE  BEREEBN
plant and equipment 964
Deferred tax asset RIERIAE B 4,538
Inventories FE 106,581
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 K B fth FRIE 159,016
Tax recoverable A EITIE 1,198
Bank balances and cash SRITHEB MRS 33,703
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 R E A FRIB (102,461)
Tax payable FERHRIE (5,025)
Bank borrowings IRITIER (102,365)
Net assets derecognised BUBREREE 195,052
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of ROFRIE AT FEEMERIER
the net assets of the subsidiaries reclassified from B RRBRERFIESE 2 Rt
equity to retained profits on distribution in specie b 5 =58 6,090
Net cash outflow arising on Spin-off AHFFRESREH
Bank balances and cash derecognised BUBBR ZIRITER KR E (33,703)
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R

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1T—-HLHFE

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&TT T THET FH&TT FET
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(E5) (&E5)) (&E5) (KLE5))
RESULTS E
Revenue B 784,721 1,064,177 1,403,428 2,138,808 2,155,710
Profit before taxation FREE R A 121,089 97,261 249,725 537,786 726,964
Income tax expenses FRISH 2 (11,963) (10,038) (10,488) (71,969) (50,584)
Profit for the year F R F 109,126 87,223 239,237 465,817 676,380
At 31 December
R+=—BA=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHEIT THET FH&TT FET
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(E5) (&E5) (&E5) (#&E5))
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZERERE
Total assets BEMRTE 952,719 1,397,757 1,539,059 2,170,164 2,833,682
Total liabilities BEEE (366,349)  (742,078) (681, 210)  (870,866) (1,175,061)
Net assets BEFH 586,370 655,679 857,849 1,299,298 1,658,621
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Statement of Financial Position of the Company

ZANYNSTEY i3 Oy

The summarised statement financial position of the Company as at 31

ARRATIN2010FE K2011E12 31 B 2%

December 2011 and 2010 is as follows: AoR R T -
2011 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Investments in subsidiaries B ARHEE 129,174 281,951
Amount due from a subsidiary Bt A FIR K 375,845 610,383
Prepayments TARTIE 176 172
Bank balances IRITHRR 317 20,189
505,512 912,695
LIABILITIES aE
Other payables HAbRERK 7,072 651
Bank borrowings RITRER 54,650 70,246
61,722 70,897
443,790 841,798
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRHE
Share capital A% 2 82,500 82,500
Reserves (note) HE ) 361,290 759,298
443,790 841,798
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Statement of Financial Position of the Company
N1 B B AR 3R

note: Hiat -
RESERVES #iE
Share
Share  Contributed options Accumulated
premium surplus reserve profits Total
RIDEHE BHBY BRERE RhaH CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT THET TET THET
At 1 January 2010 201061818 20307 112,338 = 488,085 620,730
Profit for the year FREF - - - 203,764 203,764
Recognition of equity-settled RBUARAEE ARG BER 2 H3
share-based payments - - 66,804 - 66,804
Dividends s = = = (132,000) (132,000
At 31 December 2010 #R20105612A318 20,307 112,338 66,804 559,849 759,298
Profit for the year FEREH - - - 2,269 2,269
Recognition of equity-settled RARAEE AR RERE 2 (57
share-based payments - - 62,370 - 62,370
Dividends [E=) - - - (247,500) (247,500)
Distribution in specie ENHIk - (215,146) - 0 (215,147)
At 31 December 2011 R2011612831H 20,307 (102,808) 129,174 314617 361,290

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in December 2001 and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued for the acquisition.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
8th Floor, Liven House

61-63 King Yip Street

Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 23199888 Fax: (852) 2319 9333
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